WALNUT CAPITAL LIMITED
n WP AT R 2 F]

(Formerly known as Global Mastermind Capital Limited %52 8k K 4% % 4 B2 v )
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability)
(A BH A B MBS B T B A A 2 A PR ])

(Stock Code Ji#i 5% : 905)

ANNUAL REPORT % #

)




Corporate Information

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis

Biographical Details of Directors

Directors’ Report

Corporate Governance Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Summary

CONTENTS
A 8

ATFER 2
EEWmE 4
BIBE R RO 6
BEEYHEN 20
BEEQRE 24
REARYE 35
B EEETRE 56
EABRREMEEKER 65
EABBRRE 66
GARSEER 68
BARSRER 70
GABBRENE 72
B TS HEE 168

2022F 8 | HELAER DT

1



CORPORATE INFORMATION
~EER
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Director(s)”) of Walnut Capital Limited (the “Company”), |
presented to you the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$117.0 million, compared to a loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$64.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021. The Group recorded an increase
in loss of approximately HK$53.0 million attributable to owners
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022. Such
increase was mainly attributable to an increase in loss arising in
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss of approximately HK$50.0 million.

PROSPECTS

Year 2022 may be the most turbulent year we have seen in the
past 20 years. Hang Seng Index had a return rate of -15.5%,
falling for three consecutive years, the MSCI China Index had
a return rate of -23.6%, and the Shanghai and Shenzhen
300 Index had a return rate of -21.6%. It is noteworthy that
the China Internet Index, after falling nearly 50% in 2021, fell
another 17% in 2022.

During the two major crashes in March and October 2022, the
market focuses on potential further lockdown due to COVID-19,
entrepreneurs’ confidence remains weak, and most of all the
real estate market struggling to find a bottom.

However, things has changed dramatically after October 2022,
the Covid-zero policy has ended, and the government has put
economic development back in the most important position.

In the foreseeable future, the board believes that the economy
will continues to improve and consolidate. The board believes
companies with strong growth prospects will remain attractive
and this could help the board eliminate distractions that are
impossible to forecast, such as geopolitical risk, commodity
prices, and interest rate movements. The board will not time
the market and will remain focus on finding and investing in
companies that are trading at an attractive value and strong
growth prospects.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my deepest
gratitude and appreciation to business partners, external
professionals, fellow Directors, employees and our
shareholders.

Mung Kin Keung
Co-chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE N

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$117.0 million, compared to a loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$64.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021. The Group recorded an increase
in loss of approximately HK$53.0 million attributable to owners
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022. Such
increase was mainly attributable to an increase in loss arising in
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss of approximately HK$50.0 million.

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND
RESTRICTIONS

Set out below are the investment objectives, policies and
restrictions of the Group:

Our investments will normally be made in listed and
unlisted companies;

i.  The Group had made investments with a short to long
term perspective with the objective of making capital gain
as well as income from dividend or interests. Over the
years, the Group invested in listed and unlisted securities,
bonds, direct investments, projects, properties and
structured products. Investments are also made in special
or recovery situations;

ii.  There is no restriction on the proportion of the Company’s
assets which may be invested in any specific sector or
company save for the restriction that the Company will
not make an investment in any company which represents
more than 20% of the consolidated net assets of the
Company at the time such investment is made;

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND
RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED)

iv.

The Company will not either on its own or in conjunction
with any connected person take legal, or effective,
management control of underlying investments and that in
any event the investment company will not own or control
more than 30% (or such other percentage as may from
time to time be specified in the Takeovers Code as being
the level for triggering a mandatory general offer) of the
voting rights in any one company or body; and

The Directors do not intend to seek bank borrowings until
substantially all the Company’s funds have been invested
and that the Company borrows, the Directors do not
intend to borrow amounts representing in aggregate more
than the consolidated net assets of the Company at the
time the borrowing is made.

INVESTMENT REVIEW

As at 31 December 2022, the major investments of the Group

were (i) approximately HK$69,923,000 of a portfolio of listed

financial instruments; (i) approximately HK$25,246,000 of

direct investment in unlisted financial instruments; and (iii)
approximately HK$3,510,000 of direct investment in unlisted
investment funds. The investment portfolio of the Group mainly
comprises equity and debt securities mainly in Hong Kong and

the United States of America.

Dividend from listed equity investments during the year ended
31 December 2022 was approximately HK$757,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

The details of all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest investments

RELE(E)

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H " FTEEERS
NEBEEBBES% 2 IREARZD

M OIE & AR

at 31 December 2022 are respectively set out in note 31 to the B2 HFBARERGRE M RERMFES -
consolidated financial statements.
Market value/
fair value as
compared to
Number of  the consolidated Realised gain/ Unrealised gain/
shares held total asset of (loss) for the (loss) for the
as at the Group at year ended year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Name of investments Notes 2022 2022 2022 2022
BAE
RZBZZ% HE-2-—% HE-®-—%
R=B-=f% {ZA=t-AZ +=A=+-H +=A=+-H
. +=A=+-B GEUEELEY HEEZBEE LFEZRER
REER HeE BERGAHE wE/D¥E Wi/ (§18) W/ (E58)
'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000
TR % FEx FEx
Listed equity securities in EELTRAES
Hong Kong
Alibaba Group Holding Limited MEEEEEEREBAE 82 6.47 (7,400) (2,677)
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited
MEREREERAF i 270,088 39.04 = (35,652)
Frontier Services Group Limited Frontier Services Group Limited
GERBEEEERAR i 9,684 2.92 - (2,808)
Huayi Tencent Entertainment EERAREERAR
Company Limited iv 26,780 3.55 (536) (1,875)
Kingston Financial Group Limited £ F|24¢REEERAR v 10,000 261 = (1,000)
Tencent Holdings Limited BaAZERERAR vi 10 2.90 (5,790) (1,167)
Unlisted equity and debt BRI ZELTRAR
securities outside Hong Kong BHEES
Oddup Inc. Oddup Inc. vil
- Preferred shares -BER N/A
TEA 10.80 - (9,934)
Oddup Inc. Oddup Inc. vii
- SAFETI - SAFETI N/A
TNER 3.20 - -
Infinity Technology (Cayman) Limited  Infinity Technology (Cayman)
Limited
- Preferred shares -BER N/A
v iyl 2.74 - (1,422)
Pantheon Lab Limited BERRERAT
- Convertible promissory notes - ERELER N/A
iX TiEH 3.03 - 618)
(13,726) (67,153)
* EBHER

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2022



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Notes:

As disclosed in Alibaba Group Holding Limited (“Alibaba”) December
Quarter 2022 Result Announcements, Alibaba delivered a solid
quarter despite softer demand, supply chain and logistics disruptions
due to impact of changes in COVID-19 measures, Looking ahead,
Alibaba expected continued recovery in consumer sentiment and
economic activity. Alibaba was focused on driving growth for their
customers amid the competitive landscape, and creating sustainable,
long-term value for Alibaba’s shareholders.

As disclosed in the interim report 2022/2023 of Brockman Mining
Limited (“Brockman”), the Marillana project had advanced
significantly in relation to both on ground technical studies as well as
progression of the infrastructure solution for the project.

Since July 2022, substantial field work had been underway at
Marillana. Notably among those field works are: (1) development of
a water borefield for testing and modelling of the dewatering and
water management design; and (2) commencement of a program of
close spaced drilling to inform the optimum spacing for infill resource
drilling, which was planned to be undertaken for the areas within
the early years of the mine life. At the end of the interim period, 4
pumping bores, 24 water monitoring bores and 51 resource drill
holes had been completed.

Work also continued on the metallurgical testwork program, which
included the successful completion of the first pilot plant run.
Analysis of the results from the pilot plant is currently in progress.

The Mineral Resources (“MinRes”) — Hancock Joint Operation
continued to advance the engineering studies required to support
the final investment decision on the rail and port infrastructure which
will facilitate the export of the Marillana ore. MinRes was additionally
advancing studies and preparation (including miscellaneous licence
applications, environmental studies and permitting) for the haul road
corridor from Marillana to a rail loading facility on the Roy Hill railway.

Continuing advancement of the Marillana and Ophthalmia Projects
overarching studies and approvals, leading to construction and
ultimately production.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

As disclosed in the final results announcement for the year ended 31
December 2022 of Frontier Services Group Limited (“Frontier”), it
had been more than three years since COVID-19 became endemic
in most of the world. Many countries around the world had removed
their restrictions on travelling and their business activities had been
resumed to normal. During 2022, the Frontier encountered other
new challenges in the face of the complex and severe market
situation around the globe, such as the sharp rise in fuel prices
which ended up with high operational costs in Frontier’s logistics
and aviation segment; high inflation rate in certain overseas markets
led to high finance costs and increase in operational costs, and
increased in foreign exchange risks which inevitably resulted in
additional financial burden for every segment. In response to all
these uncertainties, management of the Group had taken proactive
measures to overcome all these challenges and remained focus on
Frontier's annual goals and tasks to minimise the Frontier’s loss and
achieve the Frontier’s target, which was close to breakeven as soon
as possible.

At present, most industries were still struggling and the outlook
was still subject to considerable uncertainties, in particular, the
new geopolitical tensions and the re-election of government to
be carried out in certain countries in Africa and South East Asia.
Hence, the Frontier would remain cautious on all these latest
development. Nevertheless, the Frontier still believed that there
were business opportunities for Frontier to grasp. Frontier’s recent
success in certain countries could enable Frontier to further build
Frontier’s footprints there. At the same time, the Frontier would
continue implement cost- saving measures to enhance Frontier’'s
competitiveness in the market. The Frontier believed that with
the continuous support from Frontier’s shareholders together
with Frontier’s firm commitment towards Frontier’s mission, the
Frontier would become stronger and thrive for success during these
challenging times. The operating performance of 2022 was a good
indication or sign for the Group to back on the right track to success.

As disclosed in the annual results announcement for the year ended
31 December 2022, Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited
(“Huayi Tencent”), the Huayi Tencent had seen the right opportunity
to transform Huayi Tencent’s business strategy to internet healthcare
over the past two years, and the results were beginning to emerge.
The two core businesses — “Echartnow”, a platform for online
prescription, circulation and marketing of pharmaceutical products,
and “Meerkat Health”, which focused on smart healthcare services —
were now largely in place and are gradually taking shape.

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

iv.

Vi.

(Continued)

With the worldwide release of the last film project of the
entertainment and media business, “Moonfall”, in 2022, the Huayi
Tencent’s investment and operations in the entertainment and media
business were essentially completed. The Group had confirmed
that it would not invest in new films and television projects in order
to focus Huayi Tencent’s resources on the development of Huayi
Tencent’s internet healthcare business.

Looking ahead, the Huayi Tencent would continue to expand the
scale of Huayi Tencent’s two core businesses, “Echartnow” and
“Meerkat Health”. That included building a comprehensive product
system for “Echartnow” and shaping “Meerkat Health” into a “new
entity enterprise” committed to the effective combination of industrial
internet and consumer internet. Once the investment period was
completed, Huayi Tencent would enter into a fruitful period, achieving
long-term stable development, maximising profits and bringing
substantial returns to Huayi Tencent’s shareholders.

On 13 October 2022, a controlling shareholder of Kingston Financial
Group Limited (“Kingston”) requested the board of Kingston to put
forward a proposal to the registered shareholders of ordinary shares
of Kingston other than the controlling shareholder for the privatization
of Kingston. The cancellation price per share was HK$0.30. The
privatization was completed on March 2023.

As disclosed in the announcement of the annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2022 of Tencent Holdings Limited (“Tencent”),
during 2022, Tencent increased Tencent’s business efficiency,
sharpened Tencent’s focus on core activities, and developed new
services and revenue lines, better positioning Tencent for a new
sustainable growth model in the future.

For QQ, Tencent enlivened the video chat experience by adding
Super QQ Show avatars and utilising motion capture technology to
mirror users’ facial expressions and gestures in real time. Tencent
enriched the anime, comics and games content for Mini World, the
short-video service within QQ, and launched Al-powered creation
tools, increasing DAU and time spent per user significantly.

Tencent’s payment business benefitted from the vibrancy of the
Mini Programs commerce ecosystem, which contributed a high-
teens percentage of Tencent’s commercial payment volume in
the fourth quarter of 2022. Tencent were expanding Tencent’s
wealth management user base through investor education, better
services and a broadening product line. Tencent were also exploring
opportunities in consumer loans and online insurance services
through closer collaboration with licensed financial institutions, under
a new regulatory framework.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

Vi

vii.

Vii.

(Continued)

Tencent further reduced loss-making activities and optimised
costs, while focusing on healthier-margin self-developed PaaS
solutions, such as video cloud and database. Tencent were helping
automakers to enhance their IT infrastructure and product offerings
in areas such as customised smart cockpit solution, digital map and
data management.

Tencent were investing in Tencent’s Al capabilities and cloud
infrastructure to embrace foundation models, which Tencent believed
would enhance the experience of Tencent’s existing products and
services and allow Tencent to explore introducing new products.

Oddup Inc. was incorporated in the United States of America and is
principally engaged in operating a research platform that provides
analytical information on startups, their trends, and both current and
expected future valuations.

Infinity Technology (Cayman) Limited is principally engaged in
providing the point of sales and online ordering platform service.

Pantheon Lab Limited was incorporated in Hong Kong and is
principal engaged in artificial intelligence and software research and
development.

The Directors believe that the future performance of the Hong
Kong listed equities held by the Group is largely affected by
economic factors, investor sentiment, demand and supply
balance of an investee company’s shares and fundamentals
of an investee company, such as investee company’s news,
business fundamental and development, financial performance
and prospects. Accordingly, the Directors closely monitor the
above factors, particularly the fundamentals of each investee
company in the Group’s equity portfolio, and proactively
adjust the Group’s equity portfolio mix in order to improve its
performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had (i) cash and
cash equivalents of approximately HK$2,120,000 (2021:
HK$2,371,000); (i) other financial liability of approximately
HK$10,000,000 (2021: HK$10,000,000); and margin
loan from securities broker of approximately HK$515,000
(2021: HK$25,276,000); and (iii) net current assets of
approximately HK$89,853,000, as compared to approximately
HK$206,816,000 as at 31 December 2021. The gearing ratio
(borrowings/total equity) was 10.8% (2021: 16.5%), borrowings
included margin loan from securities broker and other financial
liability — non-convertible bond. The current ratio of the Group
was 8.41 compared to 6.76 as at 31 December 2021.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, a portfolio of listed equity and debt
securities held under margin account with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$17,396,000 (2021: HK$91,319,000) have
been pledged to secure margin loan from securities broker in
accruals and other payables.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

The Group had no material capital commitment and contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had 700,333,925
shares of HK$0.01 each in issue (2021: 700,333,925 shares).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE N

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the investments and the business transactions of
the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollar. The board
believes the foreign exchange exposure is minimal.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2022.

PROSPECTS

Year 2022 may be the most turbulent year we have seen in the
past 20 years. Hang Seng Index had a return rate of -15.5%,
falling for three consecutive years, the MSCI China Index had
a return rate of -23.6%, and the Shanghai and Shenzhen
300 Index had a return rate of -21.6%. It is noteworthy that
the China Internet Index, after falling nearly 50% in 2021, fell
another 17% in 2022.

During the two major crashes in March and October 2022, the
market focuses on potential further lockdown due to COVID-19,
entrepreneurs’ confidence remains weak, and most of all the
real estate market struggling to find a bottom.

However, things has changed dramatically after October 2022,
the Covid-zero policy has ended, and the government has put
economic development back in the most important position.

In the foreseeable future, the board believes that the economy
will continues to improve and consolidate. The board believes
companies with strong growth prospects will remain attractive
and this could help the board eliminate distractions that are
impossible to forecast, such as geopolitical risk, commodity
prices, and interest rate movements. The board will not time
the market and will remain focus on finding and investing in
companies that are trading at an attractive value and strong
growth prospects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group ensured that its employees are remunerated
according to the prevailing manpower market conditions
and individual performance, qualification, experience and the
remuneration policies are reviewed on a regular basis.

There are 15 employees, including 2 executive directors, 1 non-
executive director and 3 independent non-executive directors
as at 31 December 2022. Remuneration policies are reviewed
in accordance with the market situation and the performance
of individual director from time to time. In addition to salaries,
the Group provides employee benefits such as medical
insurance and mandatory provident fund schemes. Moreover,
discretionary bonus and share options will be paid or granted to
employees based on the Group’s and individual performances.

The emoluments of the directors were determined with
reference to their duties and responsibilities with the Company,
the Company’s performance, prevailing market conditions and
the market emoluments for directors of other listed companies
and reviewed by the remuneration committee.

The Group’s total staff costs (including directors’” emoluments)
for the year ended 31 December 2022 under review amounted
to approximately HK$11,158,000 (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$11,292,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWED

i

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Principal risks

FERR

Business risk

REER

Economic risk

Z<<< ﬁT J—L|§A

Liquidity risk
REBELER

Price risk
B E R

Description

Bt

Business risk is the risk of rapid changes
in investment market could impact
the Group’s performance.

EBERAREMSREZ LM T E
AEERF AR -

Economic risk is the risk of any downturn in
economic conditions could impact
the Group’s performance.
RERBRRETRIRYEASEREZ
N

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group
would not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due.

MEBE SRR AREEREXENEH
TREB AR -

Price risk is the risk that changes in equity
prices would affect the Group’s income and
the value of its holdings of equities.

ERERARAEREDHTZEATERA
REFREBEER -
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Mitigating actions

BRI

Continuously monitor the market dynamics and
adopt a conservative approach on investment.
HEEATSDRRRMRTIRERE

Regularly review forward looking indicators to identify
economic conditions.

EHRBMATIE LR BRELERR -

Regularly monitor liquidity and statement of financial
position.

EHERERDES KB HRRE

Maintain appropriate liquidity to cover commitments.

HEEERDESRNALE -

Limit liquidity risk exposure by investing securities
listed on stock exchanges

BRRENBEFR M LM ZEFRRDHE TR

& o
ZN

Regularly monitor equity portfolio to address any
portfolio issues promptly.
FHERARAAS - RERAMEAREEASHE -

Spread price risk exposure by investing a number of
equities.
BRRESBRESHERRR -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(CONTINUED)

Principal risks

FTERRE

Exchange risk
N

People risk
AB R

Legal and
regulatory risk
EER

\ e e e
e Rk

Description
Bt

Exchange risk is the risk that changes
in foreign exchange rates would affect
the Group’s income and the value of
its holdings of assets.
SNERRREXSBETERNEBRAR
HFEEBEZRAR -

People risk is the risk of loss the services of
any Directors, senior management and
other key personnel could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s businesses.

AERBRATNES FREBENLHM
TRAEHBARHASERBELEX
T8z R -

Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that
a breach of laws and regulations could
lead to litigation, investigations or disputes,
resulting in additional costs on civil and/or
criminal proceedings and reputational
damage being incurred.

ERMEERRAEIDERRER A
BEFHD - HEHM - HRE
R/ S EFRAREBZIBESBI
BN 2 B e

BEEEN WD

TERRETEERRE)

Mitigating actions

AR 1 I

e Closely monitor statement of financial position and
cashflow exchange risk exposures and consider
appropriate use of financial instruments, such as
forward exchange contracts, foreign currency
options and forward rate agreements, to hedge the
exchange risk.

o FYEEMBAAXRLRSREMNER R REEE
BEERERINESL - IMNERE SRR XA
EW BT AL RIMNER R o

e Provide competitive reward and benefit packages to
attract and retain the employees the Group needs.

o REABFNZREIREHN Uk REBEREE
PR ER »

e Ensure that the staff of the Group has the right
working environment to enable them to do the best
job and maximise their satisfaction at work.

s HMRASEEIRAAHEI(ERE APEIRT
ERHETKEEIEREREITIERER

e Monitor changes and developments in the regulatory
environment and ensure that sufficient resources
being made available to implement for any
compulsory changes.

e EAEERREINER G THARBEATER
e (] SR ) 1L B o

e Seek legal or other specialist advice as appropriate.

. SYARAEMTLEL@ER) -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEN WK

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to acting in an environmentally
responsible manner in our business operations and promoting
green measures towards environmental protection to our
employees. Our group adheres to the principle of recycling,
reducing and reusing. Encouraging paper recycling culture,
doubled-sided printing and copying, and encouraging energy-
saving culture by switching off idle lightings and electrical
appliance are implemented by the Group. In order to
enhance environmental sustainability, the Group will review its
environmental practices from time to time and will consider
implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in the
Group’s business operation.

COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no incidence of non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group as far as the board is aware.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEE,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

As the Group is engaged in investment in listed and unlisted
financial instruments, there are no major customers and
suppliers during the year.

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a
good relationship with its suppliers, customers, employees
and other stakeholders to meet the Group’s immediate and
long-term goals. Although there are no major customers and
suppliers during the year the Company creates a framework for
motivating staff and a formal communication channel in order
to maintain healthy relationships with its employees and other
stakeholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

The Group’s net asset value is a key indicator of the financial
performance and it decreased to approximately HK$97,177,000
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$214,213,000). During
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group suffered from
(i) a loss of approximately HK$117,036,000, mainly because
of loss arising in change in fair value of financial asset through
profit or loss amounting to approximately HK$98,709,000; and
(i) the administrative expenses and other operating expenses
amounting to approximately HK$18,660,000.

The net asset value per share was approximately HK$0.14,
which was calculated on the above net assets value and
700,333,925 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in issue as at 31
December 2022.

BEEEFWR D
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

BESEZEN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Mung Kin Keung (“Mr. Mung”), aged 62, was appointed
as an executive Director on 9 March 2007 and was re-
designated as co-chairman of the Company on 17 October
2022. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the
Company. He holds a Conferment of Honorary Doctoral Degree
from Sinte Gleska University of California. In November 2007,
he was awarded the 9th World Outstanding Chinese Award
by the World Chinese Business Investment Foundation. He
has extensive experience in areas of business management,
strategic planning and development.

Mr. Mung was appointed as an executive director of Global
Mastermind Holdings Limited (“GMHL”, stock code: 8063),
a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, on 19
June 2014.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in
any other listed public companies in the last three years and
does not hold any other position with the Company or other
members of the Group.

Mr. Mung is the father of Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, an
executive Director and the chief executive officer and a
substantial shareholder of the Company. As at the date
of this report, China Lead Investment Holdings Limited is
interested in 525,191,925 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 74.99% of the issued share capital of the
Company. China Lead Investment Holdings Limited is wholly
owned by Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Mung does not have any

relationship with any Directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (CONTINUED)

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (“Mr. Alan Mung”), formerly known
as Mung Chiu Yu, Alan, aged 36, was an executive Director
during the period from 12 November 2010 to 3 April 2013
and was re-appointed as an executive Director on 31 March
2014 and the chief executive officer of the Company on 9
February 2015. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of
the Company. He holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Business
Economics from University of California-Santa Barbara and
a Master Degree in Finance from Peking University. He
has extensive working experience in investment and asset
management.

Mr. Alan Mung was appointed as an executive director of
GMHL on 24 March 2014.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Alan Mung did not hold any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last three
years and does not hold any other position with the Company
or other members of the Group.

Mr. Alan Mung is the son of Mr. Mung, an executive Director
and co-chairman of the Company. As at the date of this
report, China Lead Investment Holdings Limited is interested
in 525,191,925 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 74.99% of the issued share capital of the
Company. China Lead Investment Holdings Limited is wholly
owned by Mr. Alan Mung.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Alan Mung does not have
any relationship with any Directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling shareholder of the Company.

EEZEN

BITEE(E)

ERXEE(IERXEE]) THEA
SHF 36 RZZT—TF+—A+=H
E_ZT-ZFNAZAYPMANTESE  IH
AR -—_E—NE=ZA=+—HER_ZT—HEF
ZANBEBRARRITEERARAITHAE -
BHMARARRZRHBAGIZES - BFE
MMAKE - BEEBEBRN DR ZEBLERR
NEEFBARIRABZEMBETEA - &
RIREREEEEFARBEEE TIELR -

EmXEER_T-HNF=-_A-_tHAEZRE
BERKBZHATES -

BREXHBEEI  KmXEERBE=FIL
ENEMEMETARARAEZEEENESR
% TERAARIAEEEMKE REEE
T E MR -

SEMXEERATEERARABFEERR T
EZRTF RAREBH  BEREERSE
FRARIRARRE]525,191,925 8% A% 19 7 #E A #
@ A ARRRIEEITIRAZ474.99% © BER
BERBRAFBASEMXGCELEES -

BEXFBEEI  SmXEEREFNES -
ARBRREEAB R T BRRAFEBBR
BEAEMBER -

2022F 8 | HEELAERDT

21



22

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

BESEZEN

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. Ng Kit Chong (“Dr. Ng”), aged 48, has been appointed
as a non-executive Director and a Co-chairman with effect
from 17 October 2022. He has over 23 years of experience in
information technology. Dr. Ng is the founder and chairman
of Goldford Business Inc., which principally engages in
technology, media and telecommunication, education and
creative industries.

Dr. Ng was an executive director and the chairman of the
board of Oriental Payment Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
8613), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, from
on 1 December 2020 to 10 November 2022.

Dr. Ng is also an independent nonexecutive director of
Chuang’s China Investments Limited (stock code: 298), whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

Dr. Ng is also an adjunct professor in the Department
of Industrial and System Engineering of The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Dr. Ng is a member of the Hong Kong
Art Development Council, Private Columbaria Licensing Board
and Employees Retraining Board. He is a convener of the Hong
Kong Youth Synergy Foundation, a founding convener of the
Young Professionals Alliance, and a committee member of
each of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
and the Guangdong-People’s Political Consultative Committee.
Dr. Ng is also currently a member of the Legislative Council of
Hong Kong. Dr. Ng obtained a bachelor’s degree and Ph.D. in
Engineering in Manufacturing Engineering from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 1996 and 2002, respectively and
completed post-doctorate research in Computer Science and
Technology at Tsinghua University in 2006.

Save as disclosed above, Dr. Ng does not have any relationship

with any Directors, senior management or substantial or
controlling shareholders of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Wai Ching (“Mr. Fung”), aged 53, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 10 October
2014. He is presently an owner of a printing company in Hong
Kong. He has over 20 years of experience in managing papet,
packaging and printing industries in both China and Hong Kong
markets.

He was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
GMHL on 23 June 2014.

Save as aforesaid, he did not hold any directorship in other
listed public companies in the last three years.

Ms. Lui Sau Lin (“Ms. Lui”), aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 July 2022. Ms. Lui,
holds a Bachelor of Business (Accountancy) degree from
the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology and a Master
of Professional Accounting degree from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. She has over 25 years of experience
in the field of accounting and finance. Ms. Lui is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Lui did not hold any directorships
in any other listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. Chung Wang Hei (“Mr. Chung”), aged 36, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 12 July 2022.
Mr. Chung, holds a Bachelor of Science degree from the Hong
Kong Baptist University. He has over 10 years of experience
in the field of software engineering and is currently a director
of a private technology company which provides technology
consultancy services and executes large-scale transformation
programs.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chung did not hold any
directorships in any other listed public companies in the last
three years.

EEZEN

BAFHTES

REESXE(REED > 535 R-F—WF
TATHEZRERBIUIFATES - RE/E
B—REHRIARZEAA - REFEEEED
SERER BEREFIETEEEB20FK

BR-ZZB—MNFRAA+T=HEZERRIKK
BB IFRITES °

BrEdES  FRBEZFAERNEMETR
RN BREEEREER -

EFELT(BxL))  51m RZZTE=-—F
+tA+_REZEABYIFNITES - BLT
BEERERAETSRBENFHE(SHE
TEMERRESREIRBRENEESHBELS
o BREFTRMEEREERLFLER - A
ZTELABEASHMASCERERBTARE
AR AEEREE -

B EXPIREES aREIRNBE=FILER
TR EH AR A BEETEMESRL

EREAE(EXRE]D 36 R_FT_—
TtAT - REZERBIYINITESE - EXLE
REBTRRERERBHIEE LB o RN
HIRBEAERBIOFLR R —HLAR
RARIMNESR @ LA AHREBMRE ARSI
TTREVERIGTE] -

% EXFIREEE N - BN BAE S E LR
AR LB ARAREEEAEER -

2022F 8 | HEELAERDT

23



24

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Directors present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Company is to act as an investment
holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements. The
Group principally invests in listed and unlisted equity and debt
securities, listed derivative financial instruments and unlisted
investment funds.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review, discussion and analysis of the
development, operating performance and financial position
and particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out in sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Financial
Summary” on page 4 to page 5, page 6 to page 19 and page
168 respectively. Such discussions constitute an integral part
of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on page 65 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021 nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@) itis, or would after payment be, unable to pay it liabilities
as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December
2022 amounted to approximately HK$84,379,000 (as at 31
December 2021: HK$193,266,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group and the Company are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws and there is no restriction against such
right under the laws of the Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Co-chairman) (redesignated on
17 October 2022)

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director:
Dr. Ng Kit Chong (Co-chairman) (appointed on
17 October 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fung Wai Ching

Mr. Chung Wang Hei (appointed on 12 July 2022)
Ms. Lui Sau Lin (appointed on 12 July 2022)

Mr. Lei Seng Fat (resigned on 12 July 2022)

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy (resigned on 12 July 2022)

The term of office of each Director are subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws (the
“Bye-laws”).

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Mung
Kin Keung, will retire from office of Director by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM”) and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election at the
AGM.

In accordance with Bye-law 83(2), Dr. Ng Kit Chong, Ms.
Lui Sau Lin and Mr. Chung Wang Hei will retire from office of
Director by rotation at the AGM, and being offer themselves for
re-election at the AGM.

All other remaining Directors shall continue in office.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Excellent Mind Investments Limited, which is owned as to 60%
to Mr. Mung Kin Keung and 40% as to Mr. Mung Bun Man,
Alan, both of them are executive directors of the Company, was
a substantial shareholder of the Global Mastermind Holdings
Limited (“GMHL”) until 20 May 2021.

Hope Master Investments Limited (“Hope Master”) and
Famous Flamingo Limited (“Famous Flamingo”) were indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries of GMHL.

On 24 September 2021, Famous Flamingo and Hope Master,
as landlords, entered into two tenancy agreements with the
Company, as tenant, for a term of one year with a monthly
rental of HK$78,400 and HK$138,936, respectively, from
15 October 2021 to 14 October 2022. The two tenancy
agreements were expired on 14 October 2022.

On 29 September 2022, Famous Flamingo and Hope Master,
as landlords, entered into two tenancy agreements with the
Company, as tenant, for a term of one year with a monthly
rental of HK$70,000 and HK$124,050, respectively, from 15
October 2022 to 14 October 2023. As at 31 December 2022,
the two tenancy agreements remained in full force and effect.

Other than as disclosed above, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or a connected
entity of a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of
the Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)) which were notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were deemed or taken
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required to be and were recorded in the register required to
be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
(CONTINUED)

Interests in shares and underlying shares of
the Company

Name of Director Capacity
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These shares were registered in the name of and were beneficially
owned by China Lead Investment Holdings Limited (“China Lead”),
a company in which Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (“Mr. Alan Mung”),
an executive Director and the chief executive officer of the Company,
holds the entire issued share capital. Therefore, Mr. Alan Mung is
deemed to have an interest in the shares in which China Lead is
interested.

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 700,333,925 shares of
the Company in issue as at 31 December 2022.

525,191,925 74.99% 1
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the period was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company, and based on the
public records filed on the website of the Stock Exchange and
records kept by the Company, the interest and short positions
of the persons or corporations (other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company) in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO, or were directly or indirectly, interest in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company
or any other members of the Group were as follows:
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Long position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
of the Company
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1. Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan an executive Director and the chief

executive officer of the Company, holds the entire issued capital of
China Lead Investment Holdings Limited.

2. The percentage holding is calculated based on the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2022 comprising
700,333,925 Shares.

OTHER INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
THE SFO

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors,
there is no other person who has an interest or short position
in the shares and underlying shares that is discloseable under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”). Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not
have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. The declaration,
payment and amount of dividends are subject to the Board’s
discretion having regard to the following factors:

(@ the earnings, financial condition, capital requirements and
future plans of the Group;

(b)  the Shareholders’ interests;
(c)  the economic outlook;

(d) the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends
by the Company to the Shareholders;

(e) the statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment of
dividends by the Company; and

()  any other factors the Board may consider relevant.

The Board shall review the Company’s dividend policy from
time to time and may take any amendments that it deems
necessary or desirable.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under
Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The
Company has received confirmation of independence from all 3
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lui Sau Lin,
Mr. Fung Wai Ching and Mr. Chung Wang Hei in accordance
with Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all independent
non-executive Directors and concluded that all of them
are independent within the definition of the Listing Rules.
Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of any
events which would cause it to believe that the independence
of any of the independent non-executive Director has been
impaired up to the date of this report.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

On the basis of information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors at the date
of this report, the Company has complied with the public float
requirement of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended
31 December 2022.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME AND SHORT
NAME

On 11 April 2022, the Company announced that the English
name of the Company was proposed to be changed from
“Global Mastermind Capital Limited” to “Walnut Capital Limited”
and adopted ATk E AHGBR A F) as the secondary name of the
Company (the “Change of Company Name”). The Change
of Company Name had become effective on 23 June 2022.
Details of the Change of Company Name were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 11 April 2022 and 29 July
2022, the circular of the Company dated 29 April 2022 and the
announcement of the Company relating to the poll results of the
annual general meeting of the Company dated 15 June 2022.
The English stock short name of the Company for trading in the
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange was changed
from “GLOBAL M CAP” to “WALNUT CAP” and a Chinese
stock short name “BATk & Z&” was adopted for trading in the
Shares on the Stock Exchange both with effect from 9:00 a.m.
on 3 August 2022.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors, substantial
shareholders of the Company nor any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business which causes or may cause competes or may cause
any significant competition with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year under review, no management and
administrative contracts regarding the entire or any major
businesses of the Company have been entered into or have
existed.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group provides a defined contribution mandatory provident
fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
to all staff. Under the MPF Scheme, employer and employees
are each required to make mandatory contributions to the
MPF Scheme and contributions to the MPF Scheme vested
immediately.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any charitable
donations (2021: nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group had no material events for disclosure subsequent to
31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited has resigned as the
auditor of the Company with effect from 10 October 2022. Elite
Partners CPA Limited has been appointed as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 10 October 2022 to fill the casual
vacancy.

Elite Partners CPA Limited shall retire in the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Elite Partners CPA Limited as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the Board

Mung Kin Keung
Director
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is dedicated to maintain a credible framework of
corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open
and accountable to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles and adopted code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as its own code
on corporate governance practices. The current practices will
be reviewed and updated regularly to follow the latest practices
in corporate governance.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
the code provisions of the CG Code during the year.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules on the Stock
Exchange as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed,
upon specific enquiries made by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 31 December 2022. To ensure Directors’
dealings in the securities of the Company (the “Securities”)
are conducted in accordance with the Model Code, a Director
is required to notify designated executive directors in writing
and obtain a written acknowledgement from the designated
executive directors prior to any dealings the Securities.
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CULTURE

Purpose

Walnut Capital Limited is a purpose-driven company. We are
committed to invest in the companies at the most attractive
value.

Vision
Our vision is to create the most compelling investment
company of Hong Kong, by using our reputation as a platform

to support our stakeholders, and by capturing the opportunities
that are shaping our markets and societies.

Values

Integrity, Excellence, Engagement

Strategy

Prioritizing and aligning the interest with the stakeholders

THE BOARD

The Board currently consists of two executive Directors, one
non-executive Director and three independent non-executive
Directors.

Composition

Executive Directors:
Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Co-chairman)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director:
Dr. Ng Kit Chong (Co-chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching

Mr. Chung Wang Hei

Ms. Lui Sau Lin

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2022
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

The number of independent non-executive Directors is 50%
of the Board membership. One independent non-executive
Director has the appropriate professional accounting
experience and expertise. The Board has a balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. The names and biographical details of each
Director are disclosed on pages 20 to 23 of this annual report.
Mr. Mung Kin Keung is the father of Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan.
Saved as disclosed, there is no other relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship)
among the Board members.

Roles and functions of the Board and
the management

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is
managed and the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board
is required for the strategy of the Group, major acquisition
and disposal, major capital investment, dividend policy,
appointment and retirement of Directors, remuneration policy
and other major operational and financial matters. In addition,
the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the investment
committee (“Investment Committee”) of the Company.
Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

During the year, the management had provided all members
of the Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance
and position to enable the Board as a whole and each Director
to discharge their duties under the Listing Rules.

During scheduled meetings of the Board, the Board discusses
and formulates the overall strategies of the Group, monitors
financial performances and discusses the annual and interim
results, as well as discusses and decides on other significant
matters.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and
the management (Continued)

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as required under the CG Code. The major
roles and functions of the Board in respect of the corporate
governance are:

- to develop and review the Company’s policy and
practices on corporate governance;

- to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

- to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

- to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors; and

—  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board had considered the following corporate governance
matters for the financial year 2022:

- review of the compliance with the CG Code; and

- review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk
management systems of the Company through the Audit
Committee.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’

liabilities insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of
the Company.

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and
the management (Continued)

The Board held 11 scheduled Board meetings during the year
2022. Due notice and board papers were given to all Directors
prior to the meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and
the CG Code. The company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman in drawing up the
agenda of each Board meeting and each Director may request
inclusion of matters in the agenda. Generally, at least 14-day
notice of a regular Board meeting is given and the Company
aims at giving reasonable notice for all other Board meetings.
The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of
Board meetings and Board committee meetings. Minutes of
Board meetings and Board committees meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by any
Directors/committee members. Details of individual attendance
of Directors are set out below:

Attendance of individual Directors at Board
meetings in 2022

Number of meetings 11

Executive Directors:

Mr. Mung Kin Keung 11/11
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan 11/11
Non-executive Director:

Dr. Ng Kit Chong 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fung Wai Ching 11/11
Mr. Lei Seng Fat 5/5
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 5/5
Mr. Chung Wang Hei 6/6
Ms. Lui Sau Lin 6/6

The Board has established procedures to enable Directors,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Directors’ training and professional development

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. Directors are
continually updated on the latest development of the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements to ensure compliance
and upkeep of good corporate governance practice. Directors
are also encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company had received record of trainings from each
Director relating to development and refreshment of their
knowledge and skills. The participation by individual Directors
in the continuous professional development is recorded in the
table below:

E=2(/)
EERIIRERERE

EEZRIIR—EARERRE - AARETHRE
SR U8 B LT AR R B OH A B B A E B SO B
B AEREBTREFRINERERER -
ARBNGBEZLEBEFEER - UBER
3 5B ¥R T 2 AR SRR RE

AN TEH& NREFEHBRRAEFENE R
REEZIBlRiR - REF2EFEERERY
EE%?%%EAT%% :

Reading materials relating to rules
and regulations and/or attending
trainings and seminars
BEAERAURRG R,

R MEINRHANE

Executive Directors: HITES !

Mr. Mung Kin Keung SE\AE

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan SmXEHE
Non-executive Director: FEHITES

Dr. Ng Kit Chong REFELT
Independent Non-executive Directors: BYEHTES
Mr. Fung Wai Ching ISHEIE S

Ms. Lui Sau Lin AAEELT

Mr. Chung Wang Hei EaELE

Chairman/Co-chairman and Chief Executive
Officer

The roles of chairman/co-chairman and chief executive
officer are separate and are not held by the same
individual exercised by different individuals to ensure their
independence, accountability and responsibility. Mr. Mung
Kin Keung was the chairman of the Company for the period
from 1 January 2022 to 16 October 2022. Mr. Mung Kin
Keung and Dr. Ng Kit Chong served as co-chairmen of
the Company for the period from 17 October 2022 to 31
December 2022. Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is the chief
executive officer of the Company. The chairman/co-chairman
provides leadership for the Board and the direction of the
Group. The chief executive officer has overall chief executive
responsibility for the Group’s business development.

During the year, the co-chairman of the Company met with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
the executive Directors.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration
by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee
will review the profiles of the candidates and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, nomination
and retirement of Directors.

According to the Bye-laws, any Directors so appointed by the
Board shall hold office, in the case of filing a casual vacancy,
only until the next following general meeting of the Company
or, in the case of an addition to their number, until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company who shall
then be eligible for re-election at such general meeting. Every
Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Non-executive Directors

All the non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) have each signed a letter of appointment
with the Company and have appointed for an initial term of one
year commencing from the date of the letter of appointment
unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the letter
of appointment. The term shall be automatically renewed for
consecutive term(s) of one year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its
expertise, there are three Board committees namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee formed under the Board, with each performing
different functions. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. In addition, following the expiration of the
investment management agreement entered into between the
investment manager and the Company on 30 June 2014. On 4
August 2014, an Investment Committee has been established
to assist the Board in overseeing the Company’s investment
strategy and policies, and the establishment and working of
internal control at the operational levels and ensure compliance
with investment restrictions.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has been established with written terms
of reference and currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is chaired
by an independent non-executive Director with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The current members of the Audit
Committee are Ms. Lui Sau Lin (Chairman), Mr. Chung Wang
Hei and Mr. Fung Wai Ching.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee include:

- to serve as a focal point for communication between other
Directors and the auditor in respect of the duties relating
to financial and other reporting, internal controls, audits,
and such other matters as the Board may determine from
time to time;

- to review the appointment of auditor on an annual basis
including the review of the audit scope and approval of
the audit fees;

- to review the annual and interim financial statements
prior to their approval by the Board, and recommend
application of accounting policies and changes to the
financial reporting requirements;

—  to review the auditor’'s management letters (if any) and
management’s responses; and

- to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing
an independent review and supervision of financial
reporting, by satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness
of the internal controls and risk management of the Group
and the adequacy of the audits.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Set out below is the major work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year included, among other things, the

following:

- to review the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and for the six months

ended 30 June 2022;

- to appoint external auditor;

- to review the effectiveness of the internal controls system

and risk management; and

- to review and discuss with the external auditor over the

financial reporting of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year. Details
of individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at
Audit Committee meetings in 2022

Number of meetings

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Fung Wai Ching

Mr. Lei Seng Fat

Mr. Chung Wang Hei

Ms. Lui Sau Lin

11
3/3
1/1
2/2
2/2
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising three independent non-
executive Directors and the Chairman/a co-chairman, which
meets at least once a year.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include:

- formulation of the remuneration policy, reviewing and
recommending to the Board the annual remuneration

policy;

- ensuring no Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration; and

- to consider of the remuneration of the Directors and
senior management of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee held 5 meetings during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out
below:

Attendance of individual members at
Remuneration Committee meeting in 2022

Number of meetings 5

Executive Director
Mr. Mung Kin Keung 5/5

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Wai Ching (Committee Chairman) 5/5
Mr. Lei Seng Fat 2/2
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 2/2
Mr. Chung Wang Hei 3/3
Ms. Lui Sau Lin 3/3

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2022
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising three independent non-
executive Directors and the Chairman/a co-chairman, which
meets at least once a year.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include:

- to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board;

- to assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors;

- recommend to the Board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors;

- to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection;

- to review the policy on Board diversity (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) and any measurable objectives for
implementing such Board Diversity Policy and to review
the progress on achieving the objectives; and

- where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an
individual as an Independent Non-executive Director at
the general meeting, it should set out whenever elect
an individual as an independent non-executive Director
(i) the process used for identifying the individual and
why the Board believes the individual and the reasons
why it considers the individual to be independent; (i)
if the proposed independent non-executive Director
will be holding their seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, why the Board believes the individual would
still be able to devote sufficient time to the Board; (i) the
perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and (iv) how the individual contributes
to diversity of the Board in the circular to shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of
the relevant general meeting.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

In considering the nomination of a new Director, the Nomination
Committee will take into account the qualification, ability,
working experience, leadership and professional ethics of the
candidates. In determining the independence of Directors, the
Board follows the requirements set out in the Listing Rules.
According to the Bye-laws, the Board has the power from time
to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board
subject to the recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee held 3 meeting during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out
below:

Attendance of individual members at Nomination
Committee meeting in 2022

Number of meetings 3

Executive Director
Mr. Mung Kin Keung 3/3

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Wai Ching 3/3
Mr. Lei Seng Fat (Committee Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 2/2
Mr. Chung Wang Hei 1/1
Ms. Lui Sau Lin 11

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2022

REZEE(#)

REBRLHEEN  RELZATHERRE
AZBE - 8 - TIFESR  RERHRBE
BiE RETEFBUMS  EEFFHERBLE
THRAMAB AT - REAR - EEEHET

FRERZEEMALTLREES  NEFZR
FENEFTEXE  HARRERZESES -

REZBENFANRITINEGE - ABUKE
FRZFBHINWT

1l
EE

CEC _FRPZEEERBNURE

H & &

= PN 3
HITES

SEmkE 3/3
BYEHITESE

IEHEIE 3/3
FTRERE(ZESEE) 2/2

EEREE 2/2
ERELE 1/
E%éﬁi 1/



INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board has established the Investment Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising two executive Directors

and the financial controller of the Company.

The major roles and functions of the Investment Committee

include:

- to review, monitor, manage and control the existing

investments;

- to seek, identify, explore, evaluate and appraise potential
investments and performing those necessary due

diligence exercises; and

- to report to the Board, illustrating its work undertaken.

The Investment Committee held 12 meetings during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out

below:

Attendance of individual members at Investment

Committee meeting in 2022
Number of meetings
Executive Directors

Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan

Financial Controller of the Company
Mr. Wong Siu Hang

12

12/12
12/12

12/12
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Company is to ensure that all
employees, including all Directors, are sufficiently compensated
for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company and
remuneration offered is appropriate for their duties and in line
with market practice. No Director, or any of his associates, and
executive is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Remuneration of Directors and
Senior Management

The executive Directors are closely involved in and are directly
responsible for all activities of the Group. The Board considers
that the senior management comprises the executive Directors.

Particulars regarding senior management and other Directors’
remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules
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are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Senior Management’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid to each of the senior management for

the year fell within the following bands:

HKS$ nil = HK$500,000
HK$500,001 — HK$ 1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000
Over HK$5,000,001
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the objectives and principle regarding board diversity for the
benefits of achieving the Company’s strategic objectives with a
view of having a balanced diversity of both skills and experience
and of perspective. Board appointments will be based on
merit and candidates will be considered against measurable
objectives, taking into account the Company’s business and
needs.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, knowledge, professional experience
and skills. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
the contribution that the selected candidates may bring to the
Board.

The Directors will consider and review the diversity of the Board
and to set up, if appropriate, measurable objectives according
to the Company’s own business model and specific needs.

GENDER DIVERSITY

As at 31 December 2022, there was one female member of the
Board.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had a total of 15 staff.
The ratio of male to female is 3:2. The Board is satisfied that
the Company has achieved gender diversity in its workforce.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Group has mechanisms to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board and such mechanisms will
be reviewed annually by the Board, encouraging all directors
including independent non-executive directors to express their
views in an open manner during the Board/Board Committees
meetings. While all independent non-executive directors are
also members of the board committees to enable various
and independent view in company’s matter. In addition, all
Directors, including independent non-executive directors, are
entitled to seek further information and documentation from
the management on the matters to be discussed at board
meetings. They can also seek assistance from the company
secretary and, where necessary, independent advice from
external professional advisers at the Company’s expense. The
Board considered the said mechanisms have been operating
effectively.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that board policy
and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman on
corporate governance and the implementation of the CG Code.
The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs.

Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer. All Directors also have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. The
selection, appointment and dismissal of the Company Secretary
is subject to the Board approval.

The Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year.

AMENDMENTS TO THE BYE-LAWS

On 11 April 2022, the Company announced that the Bye-
laws was proposed to be amended for the purpose of, among
others, (i) enabling the Company to have general meetings
to be held in a physical form, hybrid form or electronic form;
(i) reflecting certain amendments to the applicable laws
of Bermuda and the Listing Rules; and (iii) making other
consequential and housekeeping changes and to adopt the
new Bye-laws which incorporate all the proposed amendments.

The amendments to the Bye-laws and adoption of amended
and restated Bye-laws were approved in the annual general
meeting of the Company on 15 June 2022. Details of the
amendments to the Bye-laws were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 11 April 2022, the circular of the
Company dated 29 April 2022 and the announcement of the
Company relating to the poll results of the annual general
meeting of the Company dated 15 June 2022.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, total fees paid/payable to Elite Partners
and HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (the “HLB”), the
Company’s auditors amounted to approximately HK$320,000
and HK$120,000 respectively for audit services.

During the year, total fee paid to HLB amounts to approximately
HK$12,000 for non-audit services.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and reviewing their
effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk management
of the Group and endeavors to identify risks, control impact of
the identified risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated
mitigating measures.

During the year, the Company has adopted and reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk
management procedures which include the policies,
procedures, monitoring and communication activities and
standard of behaviour established for safeguarding the interests
of the shareholders of the Company. The risk management and
internal control systems of the Company aim to help achieving
the Group’s business objectives, safeguarding assets and
maintaining proper accounting records for provision of reliable
financial information. However, the design of the systems is
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement in the financial statements or loss of
assets and to manage, rather than eliminate, the risks of failure
when business objectives are being sought.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant

risks by the Group are summarized as follows:

Risk Identification

° Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s
business and operations.

Risk Assessment

° Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment

criteria developed by the management; and

° Considers the impact and consequence on the business
and the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response
° Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

° Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

° Revises the risk management strategies and internal
control processes in case of any significant change of
situation; and

° Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up
an internal audit function within the Group in light of the size,
nature and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided
that the Board would be directly responsible for internal control
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness during the year.

The Group has engaged Insightnetic Consultancy Limited as
its risk management and internal control review adviser (“the
Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the risk management
and internal control systems for the year ended 31 December
2022. Such review is conducted annually and the cycles to be
reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of review was
previously determined and approved by the Board. The Adviser
has reported findings and areas for improvement to the Audit
Committee and management of the Company. The Board
and Audit Committee are of the view that there are no material
internal control deficiencies noted. All recommendations from
the Adviser will be properly followed up by the Group to ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable period of time.

The Company has a policy to assess the likely impact of any
unexpected and significant event that may impact the price
of the shares or their trading volume and to decide whether
the relevant information is considered as inside information
that needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable
pursuant to Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the
Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Risk Monitoring and Reporting (Continued)

Based on its assessment which covers all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions, the Board believes that for the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems are effective and adequate. The
Board is satisfied that there are adequate resources of staff
with appropriate qualifications and experience in its accounting
and financial reporting team and that sufficient training and
budget have been provided.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had established a shareholders’ communication
policy and shall review it on a periodic basis to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure
its Shareholders are kept well informed of key business
imperatives. These include annual general meeting, annual
report, various notices, announcements and circulars. The
Company has also maintained a corporate website which
enables Shareholders, investors and the public to receive timely
and updated information on the Company.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings
for such substantial issues, including the re-election of retiring
Directors.

The Company’s notices to Shareholders for the annual general
meeting (2022 AGM”) of the Company held on 15 June 2022
were sent to Shareholders at least 20 clear business days
before the meeting.

An executive Director, chairman/members of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee and the representative of external auditor were
available at the 2022 AGM to answer questions from the
Shareholders. The chairman of the 2022 AGM had explained
the procedures for conducting a poll during the meeting. All
resolutions proposed at the 2022 AGM were voted separately
by way of poll. All the votes cast at the said meeting were
properly counted and recorded.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(CONTINUED)

Attendance of individual Directors at the
Annual General Meeting in 2022

BRRZBEE)

—ECCERFEAFARSHES
R E

Attendance
HE =2
Executive Directors: HITES !
Mr. Mung Kin Keung SEREE v
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan SmX it v
Independent Non-executive Directors: BYFHITES :
Mr. Fung Wai Ching FEHETE £ 4 v
Mr. Lei Seng Fat TEOELEAE v
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy EEREA v
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS IR ERER
Procedures for requisitioning an special general ERBHEBRREIAERABRREAS
meeting and for putting forward proposals at tREZRRZERF

general meetings

Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
may, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary signed and deposited in accordance with the bye-
law 58 of the Bye-laws, require a general meeting to be called
by the Directors for the transaction of any business specified in
the requisition.

A special general meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If the Board does not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Procedures for requisitioning an special general
meeting and for putting forward proposals at
general meetings (Continued)

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a Shareholder should lodge a written request, duly signed by
the Shareholder concerned, setting out the proposals at the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board and the Company Secretary. The request
will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrars
in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will pass the
request to the Board. Whether a proposal will be put to a
general meeting will be decided by the Board in its discretion.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as Director is posted on the Company’s website at
www.irasia.com/listco/hk/WalnutCapital/.

Shareholders’ enquiries

General meetings of the Company provide a direct forum
of communication between Shareholders and the Board.
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries in writing
to the Board through the Company Secretary at the principal
place of business in Hong Kong.

The Company Secretary shall forward the Shareholders’
enquiries to the Board, where appropriate to answer the
Shareholders’ questions.

In addition, Shareholders can contact Tricor Secretaries
Limited, the share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong,
if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings, share
registration and related matters.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
PREPARING THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities
in preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Company. The statement of the auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 56 to 64.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B 2B AR S

elite
< partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO

THE SHAREHOLDERS OF WALNUT CAPITAL LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS GLOBAL MASTERMIND
CAPITAL LIMITED)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Walnut Capital Limited (formerly known as Global Mastermind
Capital Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 65 to
167, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B R HENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS FEEETEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional BREASESRBERMANEXEAE Ry
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the FEPIBF APHGAVERRSRAETEENSE
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 18 > Z S FER2 LR FIETBREEAMBHRR
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the NREEERFNETERE -BMIreHELEIR
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming RHBERENER o

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ARESTEE BB N EEEARESSE

Fair value measurement on financial assets

BRUBEEZ 2 FEE

Refer to notes 18 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
DR E I HRE N T 18/29 -

As at 31 December 2022, the Group held unlisted Our audit procedures in relation to the fair value
equity and debt securities with carrying amounts of  measurement of the Group’s portfolio of unlisted equity
approximately HK$25,246,000 which were classified  and debt securities included, but were not limited to:

as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. BMst ESEEZIFELTRAREBES 2 ATERHE

RZZB__F+A=+—H > EEEFFIIL MROZEAEFERETER :

MR R ERE S - BRE{EX /25,246,000 7T -

DEREREBEEEREARFEIRZMFEE - e enquiring the management and assessing the
methodologies used in fair value measurement
and the appropriateness of the key assumptions
and parameters based on our knowledge of the
investment;

ERBMHEREEB 2R MEEEEH NG
MATEFEZFAALE  BRERRZR282E

B
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B 2B AR S

Key audit matter

RRgETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN EFTNEEERETEE

Fair value measurement on financial assets (Continued)

BRUMBEEZ A FETE(E

The valuations of the Group’s unlisted equity and debt
securities are based on a combination of market data
and different valuation models which may require to
consider numbers of input. The inputs to the valuation
techniques used to measure fair value are classified
into level 3 fair value hierarchy in HKFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement.
EEEFITRAREBESR 2 HETIDERT S
F&T%%%ﬁ S TR AR 2 TRGEER LF

FH - %mﬁaﬂ$ﬁ2%ﬁ&mmﬁkﬁﬁﬁ
;*eﬁii%%%ﬂﬁf%#&%@?ﬁ']%1SﬁQVZ@#;@ N2 %
RRNFEER -

The valuation of the unlisted equity and debt securities
is complex and requires the application of significant
judgment by the management.
FLTRAREBREF 2 HEEFTEM 2K
EIRERAEARHE -
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Our audit procedures in relation to the fair value
measurement of the Group’s portfolio of unlisted equity
and debt securities included, but were not limited to:
(Continued)

B EEEZFLITRARGEBISEGZATE
SRR BRRFEEERNRR - (B

° checking, on sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used by comparing key
underlying financial data inputs to external sources
and investee companies’ financial statements and
management information as applicable;

BB RAREEMGEIREINAER - AR
REXREQNAIZVBHREREEEER(WMER)
RS P AR B A B 2 M RE e



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key audit matter

RRgETER

RS e

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN EFTNEEERETEE

Fair value measurement on financial assets (Continued)

BRUMBEEZ A FETE(E)

The fair values of unlisted equity and debt securities
were valued by independent qualified professional
valuers.
ELTMRAREBEFHD
FLERMEITHE -

NFETRBIAERE

Our audit procedures in relation to the fair value
measurement of the Group’s portfolio of unlisted equity
and debt securities included, but were not limited to:
(Continued)

Bt EEBZFELETRAREBZESFEEGZA
AEMENR BN EFRIEETERR - (&

T

° evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent qualified professional
valuers;

MBI EREEMGLEMZER - B
N

N REE

° checking the arithmetical accuracy on the valuation
model; and
WEMEREN 2 EMERNSE : &

° enquiring the management to assess the
reasonableness and appropriateness of the
methodologies used and key assumptions
and parameters adopted in the fair value
measurement.
ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁiﬁﬁ%Zﬁ
E R ZBERBRREZ2BZEBERR
4 o

We considered management’s fair value measurement on
financial assets were supportable by available evidence.

BPMRAEEEBUMBEEC AFEMAERIEREX

F o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RBERE

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2021, were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on these
statements on 31 March 2022.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon (the “Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

R

EERERZEERGEUBERRE
AENEEGE)

REBEAMBRRE  EFRENE E&E
BREKEZRS  YHEERBERTHELR
BREFMEE  URERKERLERES
HEE - RIEFEER BEEEHBFRIFLEE
2 HRIEEMERNERATR -

%x

o

]
i3
|
m
it

i

&

\

FEO B

&%Eﬁ?ﬁ%%‘f%%ﬂﬁ%iﬁ%éﬁﬁ%ﬂ’ﬂ
B

BHANEREHERGEMBRRES A FE
HRRFFRERMEBNERNFERRABG A
BRE THABERMEROXBEIHRE
BMZBREREQARDEFIVFREREZBIRR
WE - R 2SR EEAME R - BT EHA
BEZARHEMEMALE FAEEMNE
- ABRREFZSKTIHNRE - ETRERIR
REBEEAEITOHES  EX-BABER
SRR RS AR RE 3R IR » BARRIRA AT DAl BRFF 3k
SHEREIE - IRAERAZFHRRIMEF L
EAERAEFERZFRAMBERRERER
MR ERAMBHRERMELEERTE - A
FASARR PR TR R AEE X -

2022F 8 | HELRERQ T

61



62

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2022

BB E RS M RRAEEN
B (&)

REBEBEFENEAETENNBESD - RME
RERAE - R5TEXEREE - RFITF

ash Bl B R A N ERRF SR RR M B BUR & B
BHRERFAEBAMERRM Z AR - ReT R
HITEARTF AR ELRAR - A RER
FeNEE 2 ETRE  EREMEREDN
HAE - MRMGFAIRE S N BR  RE &
BER  EBRRAIZEERAIIZESH 2
£ At ReEBHRAMGFMER 2 EXH
Rz RSN AREERRERMER
ZEARFERRM 2 R -

TEREETT AR < ABES  ARGTEE
ZETERF  BEMALIEY BEREAE
ZHRINAEREERER -

HAEFEMERA S BRI E L RIEL
SEHEFT RAERKE 2 A B -

HESRARKELERETEEZREN
e - YIRIBEMESZBARE - &
ERBFEEFHRABTRNARMERNTHE
EM - emA Rt ERY BEREZHEL
BRENELERRE - HEMRBSFEE
RIHEEN - BB BEEZBEIBREHR
BERAEIREAMHRERP 2HEEE
B BROBBAEESRE  ARMAEEHR
FEREER - RMZERIDERBER
AN E B LTS ERHRRE - A
AREEIBERATEEH BEEETHER

e
B o



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Ho Kwan with
Practising Certificate number P07543.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
10/F, 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEBnRHEMEEREE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—1F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
iz FET FAEIT
Revenue e 6 757 6,538
Other income H e 7 339 90
Loss arising in change in fair value  #Ei@1Ez=RUA A FETKR 2
of financial assets at fair value MR EEATEERESL
through profit or loss, net i)k (98,709) (48,731)
Administrative expenses and TR REMEERS
other operating expenses (18,660) (20,939)
Finance costs BbE KA 8 (763) (988)
Loss before income tax MRATEBAIE B 9 (117,036) (64,030)
Income tax expense FriSHif 2 12 - -
Loss and total comprehensive ZARATEEABLEEEIE
loss for the year attributable RE2HEEBRAHE
to owners of the Company (117,036) (64,030)
Loss per share BRER 13
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BERREECEN) (16.71) (9.14)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidation financial statements.

BER 2 FiiE A% EF A MIERR ZERERD ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= A A
1025 =] /E\ji%;lj( /R‘%%
At 31 December 2022 R —E -~ +—-H=+—8H
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHT FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment IEN N 15 189 262
Intangible assets mEEE 17 7,135 7,135
7,324 7,397
Current assets REEE
Prepayment TE I8 449 528
Other receivables H b BR 3K 38 232
Deposits paid B 701 772
Financial assets at fair value FH@BEEEAAFE R
through profit or loss B EE 18 98,679 238,818
Cash and cash equivalents HeMASFEER 19 2,120 2,371
101,987 242,721
Current liabilities nEBEE
Accruals and other payables FEETER IR K E b FE ST BR 3K 20 2,134 25,905
Other financial liability HtmBi B a s
~ non-convertible bond - NAERES 21 10,000 10,000
12,134 35,905
Net current assets REBEEFE 89,853 206,816
Total assets less current HEERARBEE
liabilities 97,177 214,213
Net assets EEFE 97,177 214,213
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE B RS IR L R

At 31 December 2022 R—Z_-_—F+_-_A=+—H
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—1F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FHET
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves RATEEANEHELRR
attributable to owners e
of the Company
Share capital & 7 22 7,003 7,003
Reserves ] 90,174 207,210
Total equity ERBE 97,177 214,213
Net asset value per share (HK$) BREEFE(ETT) 23 0.14 0.31

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March

2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mung Kin Keung
E 3L
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidation financial statements.

HRAEVBERRER_ZE-_ZF=-_A=THEEZE
S EREENE  UEBTIATRESRE
£

Mung Bun Man, Alan
EmX
Director

EFE

BEPY 2 M it R % F B MR 2 ERERD ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEDBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARERAEL
Capital
Share Share  Contribution  contribution Accumulated Total
capital premium surplus reserve losses equity
R B4 & ME B4R TERE RitER ERAg
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TAT THT TAR THT
(Note a) (Note b)
(Hizta) (Hiztb)
As at 1 January 2021 RZZE=—F
—R—H 7,003 146,099 646,448 45,330 (566,637) 278,243
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FEEE K
loss for the year 2AEELER - - - = (64,030) (64,030)
As at 31 December 2021 and ~ R=F=—%F
as at 1 January 2022 +-A=1+-Bk
“E-F
—A—H 7,008 146,099 646,448 45,330 (630,667) 214,213
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FEBERZHEEE
loss for the year B - - = = (117,036) (117,036)
Asat31December2022 ~ R-B-—f
+=ZA=1+-H 7,003 146,099 646,448 45,330 (747,703) 97,177

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2022



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

Notes:

The contributed surplus of the Group brought forward represents
the amount transferred from the share premium due to the share
premium reduction effective on 23 November 2015 and various
capital reduction subsequently. Under the Bermuda Companies Act,
the contributed surplus is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot make a distribution out of the contributed surplus
if: (i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities
as they become due; or (i) the realisable value of its assets would
thereby be less than its liabilities.

Capital contribution reserve represents Mr. Mung Kin Keung (“Mr.
Mung”), a director and substantial shareholder of the Company,
had compensated the Group from suffering loss of deposits paid for
investments in prior years, and fulfilled his responsibility as a personal
guarantee and settled all outstanding balance of deposits paid for
investment.

Witk -

REE T A EREREERDEEROR T
~RE+ A=t RAERRMEET BARA
1 T BB R R S (2 3RO - R A R AR
% BEEBEABIENE - Rf > AAATEET
SIER T B BMESIEL SR - (BB LENEFK
EEEMEE  ROREEZRREES R
A

TERBEARFEERIERRTERESE
(REEDEREAFERREZENREESL
ZEREAEEELHE  YHEEZENES
BITEERBEABRZEERIMNAARERLE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

REETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-= T —%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Cash flows from operating REEKCHERE
activities
Loss before income tax BTSRRI &R (117,036) (64,030)
Adjustments for: EBt T3 EEEL FHE -
Dividend income B& 2R A (757) (5,953)
Interest income FEHA = (585)
Depreciation of property, plant WE BEREHBEIITE
and equipment 103 1,254
Depreciation of right-of-use ERREEZINE
assets - 2,733
Loss arising in change in fair FBREREARNTENRZ FKE
value of financial assets at fair EATEESHELEZEBETE
value through profit or loss, net 98,709 48,731
Finance costs A& B AR 763 988
Operating cash flows before RetEBEEH EERSRE
movements in working capital (18,218) (16,862)
Change in prepayment AT FIRE &) 79 (11)
Change in other receivables H fth e R AR SR 194 1,795
Change in deposits paid BEffike# 71 4,188
Change in amount due from e — A A A R RIB &
a related company - 51
Change in financial assets at fair ~ BBREBEHFUARATFEFRZ PHEE
value through profit or loss gaE) 41,430 12,081
Change in accruals and other JE 5 BR R % L Ath & A<t B R
payables 990 2
Net cash generated from REEBREECHSFEHE
operating activities 24,546 1,240
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #{Z — & = —

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
4= A

BERER

FH_A=+—HLFE

2022 2021
—E-= T —%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Cash flows from investing REXEKZRERE
activities
Dividend received B AR 2 757 5,953
Purchase of property, BAME BELZE
plant and equipment (30) (22)
Purchase of intangible assets BARTLEE - (1,350)
Interest received 2 HFE - 585
Net cash generated from REXEREEZHESTE
investing activities 727 5,166
Cash flows from financing MEXKZRERE
activities
Interest paid EFLE (200) (200)
Repayment of margin loan from BHELEHRERZEE
securities broker (25,324) (8,582)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEHERE - (2,934)
Net cash used in financing MEXBEACEESEEE
activities (25,524) (6,716)
Net decreaseincashandcash BERRESEEEE RO FHE
equivalents (251) (810)
Cash and cash equivalents at RBEEHPAICREREESEEEE
the beginning of the reporting
period 2,371 2,681
Cash and cash equivalents at RBEHRZREREELESEER
the end of the reporting
period 2,120 2,371
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Walnut Capital Limited (formerly known as “Global
Mastermind Capital Limited”) (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address
of the Company’s registered office and principal place
of business are disclosed in the corporate information
section to the annual report.

The Company’s ultimate holding company is China
Lead Investment Holdings Limited, a limited company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) and
its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Mung Bun Man Alan, a
director of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (‘HK$”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except otherwise
indicated.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are investing
in listed and unlisted equity and debt securities, listed
derivative financial instruments and unlisted investment
funds.

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual periods beginning on 1 January 2022 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework
Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021
Property, Plant and
Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use
Onerous Contracts - Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

ERAEEMBREEN(EEY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2. EREBMBHREERN(EHBH

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020
and February 2022

Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to
HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?®

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies!

Definition of Accounting
Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction'
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued
but not yet effective (Continued)

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.1 Basis of preparation of the consolidated

financial statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

REVBBRRENEERTES
T BUR (&)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.1 REVBHRRENEEE)

3.1 Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of

REAFEXRZGZHMBETAME -
AR ER BB RN B R & A
BEAEQFEZMGEENDE  fHE
TR TRIE - LABUA )44 HE SRS
BEDEZERBERRR ZER -

the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair o - R EEREmmE - AFEE
value measurements are categorised into level 1, ERARATFEFEZBAREZ
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs AEREE R ABBYEEQF
to the fair value measurements are observable B EZEE»RE— - ==
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value & BT

measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:

F-RBABELSERBANG
ERHRSHRAEENRE
HEEBMSH 2 HRECRER

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in o
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement

date; )

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted o FRMABUIRIERSE R
prices included within Level 1, that are BRERZHEN  BEXBER
observable for the asset or liability, either EERHEERGI 28 A
directly or indirectly; and B R

FE-_RBWARBNEELAR
THBR2HABUR °

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the .
asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BENBBERFEIREERTES
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FEETHE

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—T - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FEGFTEHEE)
(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued) aHEE(E)
Profit or loss and each component of other BakEMmEEBESEKTDE
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners BRARTRHEEBA WEBARZE
of the Company. Total comprehensive income AR ZREEBRARREEA °
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company.
When necessary, adjustments are made to the WERE  MBAR ZHBHRERD
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring THE NUWEFEESFBKESGAS
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s B 225K -

accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, FMEEBRNARBEERAE  #
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions mo A AXKREREEKE R
between members of the Group are eliminated in full 7 ZEZRGBEBNBASRENEG
on consolidation. HHER B R 2B o

Interests in subsidiaries REE R Az EEm

In the Company’s statement of financial position, RARRMBRAKF - REEB R
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less AZESEEARREBR(E) 2
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries o BARZEEBARRIZE
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of W K PRI AR B 2 BEEARR ©

dividend received and receivable.

Foreign currencies I
Exchange differences arising on the settlement EBEAEESA CEREZBRE
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of HHIR AR B R R o

monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 E—ZE - —F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEVBBRFREERTIESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FEGFTEHEE)

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment ¥ BERRE

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost or fair value less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

The principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvement Over the lease term
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEVBBRFREERIESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FESTTHERME

(Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BENBBERFEIREERTES
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FESTTHERME

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived
from the Group’s ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that are required to be measured
at the amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEVBBRFREERTIESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FESTTHERME

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) B#TITAE)
BB EE &)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

B AR R M B UA

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—T - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEVBBRFREERIESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FEGFTEHEE)

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) B#TITAE)
Financial assets (Continued) BB EE &)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

This category includes derivative financial

BBBmFEARFEINRZTHEE
=

GG Hzﬁﬁﬁ}ﬂzﬁ.ﬁriif_ﬂﬁ\ﬁ
PEHBENARFEIERIEERE
BEMEEBEARFESR 2T
BEENBEBBHERUQFEIK

IJ-I_E °

EZ%EE'J@%ﬁ%ﬁ*T\EHﬁH%i@

instruments, equity securities and debt securities BREFBEMEA WS IARNFES
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to BELTT"@ZMEWW“IE: fi&% <
classify at FVTOCI. Dividends on equity investments BEHEREBESF NEAREBRER

classified as financial assets at FVTPL are
recognised as revenue in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount
of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “loss arising in change in fair
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, net” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 E—ZE - —F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BENBBERFEIREERTES
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FEGFTEHEE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including other receivables, deposits paid
and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated
at the end of each reporting period to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life
of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month
(“12m”) ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the end of reporting
period. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting period as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

For all instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—T - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting period
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022 E—ZE - —F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has

increased significantly:
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an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(@

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BENBBERFEIREERTES
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FESTTHERME

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FESTTHERME

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRGHREERTESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FESTTHERME

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) B#TITAE)
Financial assets (Continueq) BB EE &)
Derecognition of financial assets RILTERM B EE

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FESTTHERME

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including accruals and other
payables and other financial liability - non-convertible
bond) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition and modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BENBBERFEIREERTES
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FEGTHERGAE

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Derecognition and modification of financial liabilities
(Continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial liability
are modified, the Group assess whether the revised
terms result in a substantial modification from
original terms taking into account all relevant facts
and circumstances including qualitative factors. If
qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group
considers that the terms are substantially different
if the discounted present value of the cash flows
under the new terms, including any fees paid net
of any fees received, and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent
different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted
for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred
are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. The exchange or modification is
considered as non-substantial modification when
such difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial
liabilities that do not result in derecognition, the
carrying amount of the relevant financial liabilities will
be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities’ original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying
amount of the modified financial liabilities and
are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial
liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date of
modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEVBBRFREERIESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FESTTHERME

(Continued)
Leases HE
Definition of a lease HEZTFH

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 , the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components, including contract
for acquisition of ownership interests of a property
which includes both leasehold land and non-lease
building components, unless such allocation cannot
be made reliably.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BENBBERFEIREERTES
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FESTTHERME

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract (Continued)

The Group applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of offices and storage room
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives

received; and

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FESTTHERME

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life
and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;
and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an

option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate

line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEVBBRFREERIESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FESTTHERME

(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication
that the asset may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(the “CGU”) to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant CGU when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU
or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
to reduce the carrying amount of assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or a CGU) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEVBBRFREERIESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FEGTHERGAE

(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss
before income tax” as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEVBBRFREERTIESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FEGTHERGAE

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with interests
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or

loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@)

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments rather than for investment
or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents as defined above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEVBBRFREERTIESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FEGTHERGAE

(Continued)

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to after
deducting any amount already paid.

Retirement benefit obligations

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

The Group contributes to a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for all employees
in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ relevant income
and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed in the MPF Scheme. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contribution to the MPF
Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—T - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEVBBRFREERIESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FEGFTEHEE)

(Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect
of the time value of money is material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 E—ZE - —F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BENBBERFEIREERTES
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FEGFTEHEE)
(Continued)
Segment reporting D EEE
Operating segments, and the amounts of each KED &?v?’m\ﬁﬂ‘%iﬁz%ﬁﬁii&z
segment item reported in the consolidated financial ENBBEEEE  DREBAMAR
statements, are identified from the financial %Iﬁiﬁ%&iﬁlﬁ{’?ﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ”—ﬁ
information provided regularly to the Group’s most MEXBEMERRNARERZSITE
senior executive management for the purposes EEERHE CHBEERER -

of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not MY BREMS 1./“3'J$j<2 g
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless DEITEEEAR  BRIFZZELE
the segments have similar economic characteristics JIEENENEE  BREZERR
and are similar in respect of the nature of products REME  SEIFHE  BFPE
and services, the nature of production processes, Tk PEE - o %%E& oI f AR 7% P
the type or class of customers, the methods used to RzhEREEREHE %Hﬁ*ﬁ
distribute the products or provide the services, and i o 10 /EJ%J:LK*B - @
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating RBITERNZEEED iﬁ—Ii%)\ﬁE

segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Contingent assets and liabilities BIAREERERE

Contingent assets AAEE

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other HABERBAIEEREENRMA
unexpected events that give rise to the possibility $E@Z#‘5Jrzﬂ_}2ﬁi\@ SREMH - B
of an inflow of economic benefits to the Group and TERGEEMBERERER - AEEE
they are not recognised in the consolidated financial RETHIABEEZER - METE
statements. The Group assesses continually the FTEHEL&EFNRRA  BIREEE RN
development of contingent assets. If it has become B e A 2 MEHARNGE I
virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits WMEREREAEERBEBYA -

will arise, the Group recognises the asset and
the related income in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the
change occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—T - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEVBBRFREERIESR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FEGFTEHEE)

(Continued)

Contingent assets and liabilities (Continued)
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because
it is not probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected
to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent
liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine
whether an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits has become probable. If
it becomes probable that an outflow of future
economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a
provision is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the
change in probability occurs, except in the extremely
rare circumstances where no reliable estimate can
be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 E—ZE - —F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Related party

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

U

(i)

(i)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—T - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Related party (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

(vii The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

The following is the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurement of financial
instruments under level 3 fair value hierarchy

Certain of the Group’s financial instruments under
level 3 fair value hierarchy amounting to approximately
HK$25,246,000 (2021: HK$45,526,000) as at 31
December 2022 are measured at fair values with fair
values being determined based on significant unobserved
inputs using valuation techniques. Judgment and
estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation technigues and the relevant inputs thereof.
Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could
affect the reported fair values of these instruments. See
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements for
further disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—T - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

The Group has one reportable segment for both years
which is investment in listed and unlisted equity and
debt securities, listed derivative financial instruments and
unlisted investment funds. The reportable segments are
based on the information about the operations of the
Group that management uses to make decisions. The
Group’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that operate different activities. They are managed
separately because each business has different markets
and requires different marketing strategies. Thereafter, the
CODM considered the Group has only one reporting and
operating segment under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments,
thus no segment information is presented.

The Company’s place of domicile is in Hong Kong
which is determined based on the location of central
management and the Group’s revenue is mainly derived
in Hong Kong and all non-current assets are located in
Hong Kong for both years.
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6. REVENUE W =
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Dividend income &% S A 757 5,953
Interest income FEW A = 585
757 6,538
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE =T =-=_F+=—A=+—HIFE

7. OTHER INCOME H{th i 5
2022 2021
—E-= T4
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Government grant (Note) BRI #68 Bh (B 57) 266 =
Net foreign exchange gain HINE U 25 F KB 73 90
339 90

Note: Bfet -

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised
government grants of approximately HK$266,000 in respect of
Covid-19-related subsidies which relates to Employment Support
Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

FINANCE COSTS 8. BMEMAK
2022 2021
eS8 %
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Interest on: FE -
Other financial liability HtBi s aE
- non-convertible bond (note 21) - N ES (M iF21) 200 227
Lease liabilities HERE - 60
Other interest expenses to RS 2 AR SR
financial institutions 563 701
763 988
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. BRATBHAIEE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging: BRETISHRTEBIE DR T Y &SIE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FET
Auditors’ remuneration: ZEET N & -
- Audit services - BAZIRTE
e Elite Partners CPA Limited e FITEEETAIE
EET AR A A 320 =
e Other auditors o H 4% BRAD 172 300
- Non-audit services - EEZIRTE 12 62
504 362
Depreciation of property, Y BEMEEZITE
plant and equipment 103 1,254
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FFEEEE - 2,733

2022F % | HHIEREGRAHE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. BRITBHAIEE (&)
(CONTINUED)
An analysis of the loss arising in change in fair value of FERBERRUAAFTEIR CTBEEQF
financial assets at FVTPL, net is as follows: BEPHELE BEFEIONNOT -
2022 2021
—E-—F T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Realised loss/(gain) on disposal of ~ H&FE@EREUNATE
financial assets at FVTPL VR IS EEZ
B &5 EE (k)

Proceeds from disposal of HEFBEREUQFE
financial assets at FVTPL PR 2 B TS & BE 2 FR1S 3R IE (114,053) (177,959)
Less: Carrying amounts of W BAERERAATETR
financial assets at FVTPL G EE 2 REE 139,596 174,099
25,543 (3,860)
Unrealised loss on financial assets ~ #Ei@iEmHERA AT ESRZ
at FVTPL MEEE 2 RELREE 73,166 52,591
98,709 48,731
10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 10. EERAREX
The employee benefit expense, including directors’ BERMNAZ(BREESFHMOT :
remuneration is as follows:
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—1F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FHET
Salaries, bonus and other allowance #r& - fE4L R H A0EAL 11,002 11,128
Retirement benefit scheme RIRE N FHEI B K
contributions 156 164
11,158 11,292
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing

1. EERFTETHAEZFHM

(a) EBEREETHRAE M

REEB L AR REE QRS
KRERERBZEENEEZTHRA

Rules and the disclosure requirements of the Hong BrEFEEMESHT ¢
Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
Retirement
Allowance benefit
and benefits Discretionary scheme
Fee in kind bonus contributions Total
2ER BHREH
e BMEH REwd HEME - H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$°000
T FET TR TR FET
2022 St
Executive directors: HTEE:
Mr. Mung B 1,800 - - 14 1,814
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan SmXkE 3,630 2,174 = 18 5,822
Non-executive director: FYTES !
Dr. Ng Kit Chong (appointedon ~ REHEL (=T ==
17 October 2022) F+ATLREZR) - - - - -
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHITES :
directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching BREIELE 60 = = = 60
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi Percy AEREEM=-T=Z
(resigned on 12 July 2022) E+A+ZAFH) 32 - - - 32
Mr. Lei Seng Fat FRAREMZTZZ
(resigned on 12 July 2022) ELA+-RED) 32 = = = 32
Ms. Lui Sau Lin (appointed on~~ BFEXL(R=F==
12 July 2022) F+B+-REZRD) 28 = = = 28
Mr. Chung Wang Hei (appointed  EZEL4A(M =T ==
on 12 July 2022) ErA+-REED) 2 - - - 2
5,610 2,174 - 32 7,816
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. EERFETHRABZEHMH(AE)
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERFETHAEZHMNGE
emoluments (Continued)

Retirement
Allowance benefit
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fee in kind bonus  contributions Total
2HR RIRER
ik ENEH R B3 @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR TAL TAT TR

2021 —E--E
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Mung ESis 2,400 - - 18 2,418
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan MmNk 3,960 923 330 18 5,231

Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEE :

directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching LS 60 - - - 60
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi Percy EEREEM-Z=
(resigned on 12 July 2022) ZELA+ZHEA) 60 - - - 60
Mr. Lei Seng Fat FRELER=T==
(resigned on 12 July 2022) ELA+-RET) 60 = = = 60
6,540 923 330 36 7,829
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above EXFTRZHTESHT MRS E
were for their services in connection with the BARNRRAEESEB MM RS
management of the affairs of the Company and the £@ -
Group.
The non-executive director’s and the independent EXFIRZIENITES KRB LIEH
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above TEETNEBEZERARAIES
were for their services as the directors of the Mgtz RIEBHE -
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

The Group has been providing accommodation
reimbursement of approximately HK$2,174,000
(2021: HK$923,000), to Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan
for use by him and his family members.

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is also the chief executive
officer of the Company and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for service rendered
by him as the chief executive officer.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for both years.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office for
both years.

Transactions, arrangements or contracts
in which directors have material
interests

Mr. Mung and Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, are
also the directors of Global Mastermind Holdings
Limited (“GMHL”) as at and for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
paid commission and other handling charge of
approximately HK$29,000 to Global Mastermind
Securities Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
GMHL.

N EERFTETBRAEZHM(E)

(a)

(b)

*EHEE

EERTETBRAEBZHMNA

AEEB—EHRZRXEEREER
B RMmEN2,174,0008 T (= —
F 1 923,000/ 7T)  UEHREKREB
/-

SmXEENBERRBZITHAE
REXHBEBREBR M BER
BEETRELRERRE M -

RREFE BMEEFAETERTH
A B A% I PR ZE 3 [R) B A 3R A o) B
TR

RAEFEE  AEBIERNEFX
NERIMARSEE 2 2B & =B B
mEZHESR -

ESRREARREZXS &
BHEL

RIBZZFR_F-_—F+_H
=t+t—BUREBEZMALEFE -
SEEREBXEENMAGIoba
Mastermind Holdings Limited3&Ek A
BEEERAA(RRABNZE
$o

BE_FT-_—F+t-A=t—HL
FE AEBRARKRKBZZEN
BRARIRRKBESFERARIN
& Kk HAth F 48 B £929,000/ 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions, arrangements or contracts
in which directors have material
interests (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company paid lease payment of approximately
HK$1,629,000 (2021: HK$321,000) and
HK$919,000 (2021: HK$233,000) in relation to the
rental agreement entered into with Hope Master
Investments Limited and Famous Flamingo Limited,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of GMHL.

Saved as disclosed above, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts in which the Company
or any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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(b)

EERAEARREZRE &
BHEH(HE)

REE-_ZT-_—_F#+=-A=+—H
IEFE - XA EHope Master
Investments Limited & & Bk A 3@ [
% 2 &Kt B A "JFamous Flamingo
Limitedi] Z 2 M E B ZE S HER
F#1,629,0008 L (Z T =—F :
321,000 7T) % 919,000/ L (ZF =
—4%F : 233,000/87T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

M. EERFETHRAEZFHNE)

(c) EEEEFMAL

FR AEEBREHESFMALE
ERAE(CE-_—F MB)EF &
EZHEMFBEN EXWE11(a) °
FRABRT=R(ZT=—F : =%)

(c) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid employees of the Group
during the year included two (2021: two) directors,
details of whose remuneration are set out in note
11(a) above. Details of the remuneration for the i
year of the remaining three (2021: three) highest BARAIZESHEETHRAEBZ
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief BERyMES 2HMEFBEAT ¢
executive of the Company are as follows:

2022 2021
—E-= %
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Salaries, allowances and other e EEREMAEYEF
benefit in kind 1,533 1,630
Discretionary bonus B TEAL 101 134

Retirement benefit scheme RORFRFIFT S R

contributions 47 52
1,681 1,816

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation

AEERMEFELERNALERD
FMA L 2EM—RALTIMNES
MAREE 2 BB ABEREREZ

for loss of office for both years. HES -

WIBARAEFTBEEFMNF A
THAzZESFMEEAZRINT

The number of the highest paid employees who
are not the directors of the Company whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as

follows:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—1F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Nil to HK$500,000 Z 500,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001&TE
1,000,000/ 7T 1 1
3 3
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2. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill
2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28
March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to
be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements.
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
as the Group incurred estimated tax losses or the taxable
profits was wholly absorbed by estimated tax losses
brought forward from prior years.

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

12. FRSFHiBEX

RZZE—NE=ZF=-+—H  BEBLEE
BBAT(ZZE—EEBBUSED (B7H) K
By (TRBIL) + ZAEBISI AT FI4S B /R AR
#l o EPIER—_Z—N\F=ZA=-+\B%
EERITRXBHE - REBEFESH AR
#l - AEREEELEAMEH2,000,0005 7T
B35 ) 6 128.25% &1 - k82,000,000
BITH R A B ZBER16.5% B - TFE
FMEBMASOEBEER M EEER
16.5% HJ & 7E Bt R FL

BEERE BERASHMAHFSIENE
BUREMBHREMELTEKR - FH
FERDEMEFEGHTERT R Z
16.5%:1H -

R AREELE G AE R ERT S
M2 AR T FEAEE 2 At HIBEEMR
B U ETRBBNSTEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 12. FTEHiIRAZ (&)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
the loss before income tax per the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:

meBakEtemBaRFEEMEHRA
X R ERFTS AT E R A SRR

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Loss before income tax BrPTS R R &R (117,036) (64,030)
Tax calculated at the rates applicable RIEMREIR S A AERER 2
to the tax jurisdictions concerned MEFEZHIE (19,311) (10,565)
Expenses not deductible for A A
tax purposes 12,676 8,675
Income not taxable for tax purposes  H 78R F LA (230) (1,891)
Estimated tax losses not recognised KR Z st B E1E 6,865 3,781

P TR 3

Income tax expense

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
estimated tax losses of approximately HK$433,700,000
(2021: HK$392,100,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams and unrecognised tax losses could be
carried forward indefinitely.

RERE HIR - AL B H 49433,700,0007
JT(ZZT ——4% : 392,100,000/8 7T) K&
FAfEETBIEEE - Al AEREREF -
R AREETERT B 125 FIR R R AR MR 2B
HEBAERPAE WA ERTEEIE

ERELCHAEE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE =T =-=_F+=—A=+—HIFE

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13.

The computations of basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company are based on the
following data:

FREBER
ARRRAAEEERERREEER
FHETDER T BRI -

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHET

Loss
Loss for the purpose of basic and

5F
R S REAR N EE

diluted loss per share EE2BRERTHEEA
(Loss for the year attributable to L FEEBER)
owners of the Company) (117,036) (64,030)
2022 2021
—E-—F T4
’000 000
T F A%
Number of shares RoEA
Weighted average number of AU EERERREE
ordinary shares for the purpose of  [E518 2 &3 A INAE F 19 &
basic and diluted loss per share 700,334 700,334

The basic and diluted loss per share are the same for
both years.

No diluted loss per share was presented as there was no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—T - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the
year ended 31 December 2022, nor has any dividend
been proposed by the board of directors subsequent to

the end of the reporting period (2021: nil).

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. BB

BE_T__F+-_A=1T—HLFE -

é%AI,ﬁi?ZH

BRI X EATAX

- BR\BEBRE IR ZZ S ERR

% (ZBE=—F 5o

15. Y% - BERRE

Leasehold Motor Office
improvement vehicles equipment Total
HEHEE AE BAERE ‘st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHET FAL FEL FHET
Cost B
As at 1 January 2021 R-E-_—%—Hf—H 3,378 4,118 646 8,142
Additions NE - - 22 22
As at 31 December 2021 and R-E-_—F+-A=+—H
as at 1 January 2022 MRAZZE-—F—H—H 3,378 4,118 668 8,164
Additions NES - - 30 30
Written off Hsh - (950) 3 (053)
As at 31 December 2022 WN_E__f+-A=1—H 3,378 3,168 695 7,241
Accumulated depreciation RIHhE
As at 1 January 2021 R-—E-_—F—H—H 2,320 3,963 365 6,648
Charge for the year FELH 1,027 155 72 1,254
As at 31 December 2021 and RZZ-—F+=-A=+—H
as at 1 January 2022 ER-_ZE-—%—F—H 3,347 4,118 437 7,902
Charge for the year FEXH 12 - 91 103
Written off ke = (950) ) (953)
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZEBE-_—_F+=-F=+—H 3,359 3,168 525 7,052
Carrying amounts BREE
As at 31 December 2022 R-E2--f+-HA=+-H 19 = 170 189
As at 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—%+-A=+—H 31 = 231 262
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

and as at 31 December 2022

—E-—_#+—-A=+—H

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EAEEE
Office
WAE
HK$’000
FHEIT
Cost R
As at 1 January 2021 R—E-——F—H—H 9,663
Written off upon lease expiry ER=EN LS E (9,663)
As at 31 December 2021, R—EB-_—F+=-_A=+—8 "
as at 1 January 2022 RZEZZF—H—BER
and as at 31 December 2022 —E-—F+—-HF=+—H -
Accumulated depreciation ZIHIRE
As at 1 January 2021 R—E-_—F—H—H 6,930
Charge for the year FEZW 2,733
Written off upon lease expiry AR & JiE i B SR (9,663)
As at 31 December 2021, RZE-_—F+=-_B=+—8 -
as at 1 January 2022 RZBZZF—-—A—AKR®

Carrying amount
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021

fREE

R-B-_—_FR-ZF-_—5+=-HA=+—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

16. ERBEE (&)

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHxT FET

Expense relating to BERHEERA o AX
short-term leases 2,548 570
Total cash outflow for leases HEZRERE =85 2,548 3,504

The Group leases offices and storage room for its
operations with lease contracts under fixed term of 1 year
or less (2021: 1 year).

In addition to the portfolio of short-term leases for office
which are regularly entered into by the Group, the Group
entered into short-term leases for office and storage
room during the year ended 31 December 2022. As at
31 December 2022, the outstanding lease commitments
relating to short-term leases is approximately
HK$1,941,000 (2021: HK$2,161,000).

AEEAEXBHENR A AENER  HE
AHABETHRIEFHUT (T _—F
146F) o

BE_E-_—_#+_A=+—RHIFE "
BAEETHRP AT L2 EHAE
MEN  AEBRBAERAMIINLT
EHEE WN-_EBE-_—_F#+-_A=+—
H FHAEHEEsREEHERAENR
1,941,000 7 (Z&=—%F : 2,161,000
BIT) o

2022F 8 | HELRERQ T

127



128

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022 E—ZE - —F+_A=+—HIFE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

7. B EE

Club memberships =%
HK$’000
FAETT
Cost 2%
As at 1 January 2021 B —F—HF—H 5,785
Additions NE 1,350
As at 31 December 2021, RZEZ_—F+=ZHA=+—8"
as at 1 January 2022 and RZZE_—F—HA—BK
as at 31 December 2022 R-ZFE-_—F+=-H=+—8H 7,135
Accumulated impairment losses ZFtEEEER
As at 1 January 2021, R—ZE-_—F—HF—H
as at 31 December 2021, W_ZE-——F+=-A=+—H"
as at 1 January 2022 and RZZE-_—F—A—HK
as at 31 December 2022 KRB —F+=-A=+—H -
Carrying amounts BREIE
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021 R-E-_—_FrR-ZB-_—F+=-HA=+—H 7,135

The Group holds life-time memberships with non-
refundable membership fee which are freely transferrable.
In the opinion of the directors, the club memberships are
capable of being renewed indefinitely at insignificant cost
and therefore is perpetual in duration.

The Group performed impairment test for the intangible
assets by comparing its recoverable amounts to the
carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period in
accordance with HKAS 36. The recoverable amounts of
the intangible assets are determined based on fair value
less cost of disposal. The fair value was determined based
on level 2 hierarchy using market approach with reference
to quoted market prices. Accordingly, the directors
consider that no impairment loss was recognised for both
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;

Ee

FH_A=+—HLFE

18. EBBERUA T EI R T

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2022 2021
- S —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FATT
Derivative financial instruments REBZ EMITEMBIA -
listed in Hong Kong, at fair value BAYE 686 648
Listed equity and debt securities: ERAREBRES
— Equity and debt securities listed -REBZ ETRAR
in Hong Kong, at fair value BERES - AT E 69,206 173,874
— Equity and debt securities - REBEBUINZ ETRA R
listed outside Hong Kong, BBES  HAFE
at fair value 31 18,770
69,923 193,292
Unlisted equity and debt securites  3F_F TR AN M &S 25,246 37,005
Unlisted investment funds FLEMREES 3,510 8,521
98,679 238,818
At the end of the reporting period, financial assets at RIEHR - BRBEEEARTEIERZ

FVTPL are stated at fair value.

The fair value of the listed derivative financial instruments
and listed equity and debt securities are determined
based on the quoted market closing prices available on
the relevant stock exchanges at the end of the reporting
period.

As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of unlisted equity
securities amounting to approximately HK$18,446,000
(2021: HK$28,639,000), was referenced to the valuation
carried out by a firm of independent professional valuers.
Details of fair value measurement are disclosed in note 29
to the consolidated financial statements.

HBEERNTERT -

RBEHR > EHIOTEMBTAR EHK
ANEBE S 2 A FEDIZREEESRZ
SR W BETE

RZBEZ=—F+=-A=+—8 " FLHk
$ EHH A FEL A18,446,0008 T (=
T~ —4 : 28,639,000/ T) ° ﬂ%é&%ﬁ
E%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ}_ﬂﬁ'ﬂﬁﬁkﬁ AFEE
EZFBREE M EHRERM TP HE o
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18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022, fair value of unlisted debt
securities amounting to approximately HK$6,800,000
(2021: HK$8,366,000) which represented convertible
loans issued by unlisted private companies were
referenced to the valuation carried out by a firm of
independent professional valuers. Details of fair value
measurement are disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The unlisted investment funds are not quoted in an active
market and transactions in such investments do not occur
on a regular basis. The Company used recent market
price or the net asset value as reported by the managers
of the funds attributable to the investments held by the
Company to determine its fair value.

As at 31 December 2022, a portfolio of equity and debt
securities with the carrying amounts of approximately
HK$17,396,000 (2021: HK$91,319,000) have been
pledged to secure margin loan from securities broker in
accruals and other payables (note 20).

The fair value of the Group’s listed derivative financial
instruments and equity securities listed in Hong Kong
and outside Hong Kong at the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements were approximately
HK$31,026,000.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

18. EBBERUA T EI R T

BEEMH)

R-E-_—_F+_-A=+—H  ktH&E
%A KA F{EL 56,800,000 T (=F
——% : 8,366,000/ T) ' EIELTHAA
AR EB L BEGEMTETNGBEM
BITHATRRER - AFEEFEZHFBER
fRa MR M T2 K EE -

FLETREESWEPNERT S ERE -
HZSREVBETHETRS - NRAFHE
FIHmEX AR RFENRERENE
EREBRENEEFEUNBEERATE -

R—_ZEBE-_—_F+_-_A=+—B @\
BEA#17,396,0008 (=T - —4F :
91,319,000 L) AR ERBHEE
BEFEH  UESESFELTRERGH
AFETBRZ N E At B A BR 300 (B9 5E20) ©

RELEZESEAUBRRBE  AEEF
BRBEBUAIIN EMOTEN KT AR
FH 7 N FEAAE31,026,00008 7T ©
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e M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

19. BERREEFEHER

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHETT

Cash at banks and on hand RITHEEeRFERE 2,120 2,371

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$4,000 (2021: HK$55,000)
denominated in United States Dollar (‘US$”).

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and
short term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s
short term cash commitments, which carry interest at
floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the Group performed impairment assessment on bank
balances and concluded that the probability of defaults of
the counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly,
no allowance for credit losses is provided.

RZIE-_—_F+-_A=+—H K~&EFZ
EX(ERDFEZRES MRITEHOA
4,000/ (ZF = —4F : 55,000/87T) °

He MBS SEAR BERUENEAES
CHRS AR ERTRRERER
RN G B R ITT R K 0 E B = 5t

B o

1N

HE_Z-_—_FR=-_T=-—F+=ZA=+
—HIEFE  AEEHRITESRETRE
AL B ER  RHIEFRITHELNA]
MM RS REREEEBR
B -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

20. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. FEETRRMR R H AR
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TAT
Accruals FEETAR X 564 334
Margin loan from securities broker B H&E 4L T E E K (Kt 7)

(Note) 515 25,276
Bond interest payable FEfHES B 143 143
Other payables E e ARFK 912 152

2,134 25,905
Note: Hiat
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the margin loan from securities R_E_—FR_F-_—F+-_A=+—H ' &
broker was secured by a portfolio of equity and debt securities FREHAREXRDBHARRPETREZEAEE
which classified as financial assets at FVTPL held under the margin 2 54917,396,000/ L (ZZF=—4 : 91,319,000
account, with carrying amounts of approximately HK$17,396,000 BILIZBRAREBERERF(DERBERBEENUR
(2021: HK$91,319,000). The Group’s margin loan has no determined TEFERZABEE)EEEER - AEBFEER
maturity date and is subject to interest specified from time to time by RUBETHNEHE  WEERBHFELTRERTEZ
securities broker. The margin loan is interest bearing at floating rates. FEHE - FREFERIDANERFE - RZTZ
As at 31 December 2022, the effective interest rate is 6.63% (2021: ZFE+ZA=+—H BEBRFMNERE.63%(ZF
ranged from 2.36% to 2.38%) per annum. ——%F N T2.36%%F2.38%) °
OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY — NON- 21, EtBKEaE - T UERES

21.

CONVERTIBLE BOND

The Company issued a non-convertible bond in a principal
amount of HK$10,000,000 (the “Bond”) on 16 April 2014,
the original maturity date is 15 April 2021 (the “Original
Maturity Date”). The Company has an option (the
“Prepayment Option”) to repay the outstanding principal
amount of the Bond at any time before the Original
Maturity Date, but the bondholder shall not redeem the
Bond before the Original Maturity Date.
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e M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

21. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY — NON-

CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED)

The Bond carries interest at the rate of 2% per annum
payable annually in arrears on the last day of each
year from the date of the Bond, provided that the final
repayment of the interest shall be on the Original Maturity
Date. However, for every 10% increase in the net profit
in any financial year during the term of the Bond as
compared to the immediate previous year, the interest
rate shall be increased by 1% for that financial year and
with retrospective effect. The following year’s interest rate
will be reset at 2% subject to adjustment depending on
the net profit. The interest rate during the term shall not
be less than 2% per annum and not more than 6% per
annum (the “Cap”). Details of the Bond were set out in
the Company’s announcement date 16 April 2014.

On 16 April 2021, the Company entered into agreement
with the holder of the Bond (the “Bond Holder”) for
one year extension of the maturity date of the Bond to
16 April 2022. On 16 April 2022, the Company entered
into another agreement with the Bond Holder for one
year extension of the maturity date of the Bond to
16 April 2023. Other terms and conditions of the Bond
remain unchanged.

The Prepayment Option and the Cap are regarded as
embedded derivatives in the host contract. The directors
assessed the fair value of the Prepayment Option and
the Cap with reference to the valuation performed by a
firm of independent qualified professional valuers, which
assess the fair values of the Prepayment Option and the
Cap by using the Monte Carlo method and determined
that the fair value of the Prepayment Option and the
Cap were insignificant at the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the Prepayment Option and the Cap were
not recognised in the consolidated financial statements as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

21.

%f}ﬂzﬂﬂ%ﬁfﬁ - AU ERES

BHRRENR2%TE - ARAEBEFBEH
B SFRE—BOHN - EMNEZ&
REEEHRRIHE - AW - REHF
HAZEMMREE  SNESRE—F
EIN10% @ ;%8R E 2 MR AR 1%
WEBHEA o T—F 2R BEHRTE
2% - MEFIARIBRAEA FIAHE - RFEH
AN MEIFEREF2RIEERE
Fon(ER]) - BEHRZFHBHNALRFA
HA—T-—NFNA+NBEZAEA -

RZZFEZ—FMA+A  XRAHBE
HSHPALR—GFE_T-_—_FMWA+
NEHHEESFFEA(BHEEEAD LB
FoOoRZEZ—FWA+SH  AAFEHE
BHERFBARI LS —Hin®E - BEFIES
AER—FZ-_T-_=FMWA+, B &
52 HMAER RAGHHRFTE o

B EREBESAEAEHNZHRARITE
TA -BEE2EBIUAEREEMERMT
(HERSRREATHBENEZATE
RER)ETZHETEBNEZATE
RER W WHEENRBRESHARENEZAT
ERERITEKR - At - BRNER LR
HER T FR-_FT=—F+=H
=+ —BZEREMBHRERPHER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

21. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY = NON- 21, HtBi K aE - AU ERES
CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED) (4&)
The Bond recognised in the consolidated statements of RAEEZZaUBRARPHERZES
financial position of the Group is calculated as follows: FTEWT
HK$’000
FATT
As at 1 January 2021 R—E-_—F—H—H 9,973
Interest expense (note 8) MERX (HiE8) 227
Interest paid and payable 2 RERFE (200)
As at 31 December 2021 and RZEZ—F+ZA=+—8HK
as at 1 January 2022 N-ZE-_—_F—H—H 10,000
Interest expense (note 8) FEFEZ (K iE8) 200
Interest paid and payable BT R ERF A (200)
As at 31 December 2022 R-BZZ$+=-A=+—H 10,000
The effective interest rate of the Bond is 2% (2021: 2%) BECERFNER2W(ZTEZ—F
per annum. 2%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

22. SHARE CAPITAL 22, R
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-F
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
ROEE TR G TET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each ~ BREE0.01E T2 @R
Authorised: EE:
At the beginning/end of the R E /R
reporting period 100,000,000,000 1,000,000 100,000,000,000 1,000,000
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-F
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
ROEE TR RiEE TET
Issued and fully paid: BRITRHE
At the beginning/end of the REE BRI/
reporting period 700,333,925 7,003 700,333,925 7,003

23.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

The calculation of net asset value per share is based
on net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2022 of
approximately HK$97,177,000 (2021: HK$214,213,000)
and 700,333,925 ordinary shares (2021: 700,333,925
ordinary shares) in issue.

23. BREEFE

BREEFENREAEER-_T=_=
+ZRA=+—B2EEFEH7,177,000
BIT(ZZEZ—%F 214,213,000 7T) &
700,333,925 B TE AR (=T =—
£F 1 700,333,9250% H @Rt E -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

24. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 24. B A TFIE
The following table lists the subsidiaries of the Company: TRIWREARBMBAA :
Proportion of
Issuedand  ownership interest
Place/country of  Type of legal fully paid  and voting power held  Principal activities and
Name of subsidiary incorporation entity share capital by the Company place of operations
A BEAR RAFMEEN
HWEARER %/ Bx HERRER BERE BEERREEULA FEXBREELE
2022 2021
ZECCZE ZZ--F
% %
Apex Cheer Investments Limited BVI Limited liability US$1 100 100 Investment holding
company
Apex Cheer Investments Limited RERUES BRELLDH e RERR
City King Investments Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
) company
SHREBRAT &b BREELR 1T REAR
Fortune Express Group Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$1 100 100  Investment holding
company
EASEERAT BB BRELAR 18T REAR
Full Long Holdings Limited BVI Limited liability US$1 100 100 Investment holding
company
BRERARAT EBRAES BREELR E REAR
Genius Hill Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
company
FEERAR &b BREEAT iy REAR
Mega way International Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
company
BRERARAR i BREEAT 10,000%7 RERR
Sky Champion Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
(“Sky Champion’) company
SERRAR(H%)) B BREERR 18T REAR
White Venture Capital Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
(‘White Venture’) company )
BIERERAF(BIAR) &4 BREEAT 18T REAR
Except for Sky Champion and White Venture, all other BrelgE B8RRI - FTE HALkE A A
subsidiaries are directly held by the Company. HHREARREERFHA -
None of the subsidiaries had debt securities outstanding RMERRIFAEAER - BT
at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the EAMERKEECEBTBES
year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 25. KPRz EMRRAR R EEES
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE

COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the

Company

(@) ARBEZHBARREK

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - B MR 22 17
Intangible assets mAE 2,565 2,565
Interests in subsidiaries S NG £ 10 10
2,597 2,592
Current assets REBEE
Prepayment AT HUR 442 453
Other receivables H b R UL BR 3K = 5
Deposits paid [RENE & 701 772
Amounts due from subsidiaries N ENGIE S 98,353 205,683
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEHEER 1,287 1,478
100,783 208,391
Current liabilities RBEE
Accruals and other payables FERTER R R EA
FE T BR R 859 629
Other financial liability Hior B asE
- non-convertible bond - DAl E R E 54 10,000 10,000
Amount due to a subsidiary FEfT — BB A R 5B 1,139 85
11,998 10,714
Net current assets RBEEZFE 88,785 197,677
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25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 25. AATZHBRRRE #EEE
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE (4&)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) ATz &K E)
Company (Continued)
2022 2021
—E-F %
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Total assets less current liabilities 2 EERAEEE 91,382 200,269
Net assets EERE 91,382 200,269
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable 72 T)HEE AEBEREAR
to owners of the Company &
Share capital A% 72 7,003 7,003
Reserves (e 84,379 193,266
Total equity s 91,382 200,269
Signed on its behalf by: HUATATRRESTESEE
Mung Kin Keung Mung Bun Man, Alan
RER EmX
Director Director
EF EFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;

25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(b) Movement of reserve of the Company

TR

25. ARR 2 MBRR KRR HEEE

(%)

(b) AR ZFHEEE

Capital
Share Contribution contribution Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
R EE BEAEH TERE RiEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TAT TAT FET
(Note a) (Note b)
(Hiita) (Hiztb)
As at 1 January 2021 i —a
—A—H 146,099 646,448 45,330 (583,891) 253,986
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FEE#E R
loss for the year 2AEBRAS - - = (60,720) (60,720)
Asat 31 December 2021 and  R=Z=—%F
as at 1 January 2022 +ZA=+-B%
RZEZZ
—H—A 146,099 646,448 45,330 (644,611) 193,266
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FEE#E R
loss for the year EEBREE - = = (108,887) (108,887)
As at 31 December 2022 R=B=Z%
+=ZA=+-H 146,099 646,448 45,330 (753,498) 84,379
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For the year ended 31

December 2022 BE T - —“F+-A=+—HIEFE

25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(b) Mov

ement of reserve of the Company

(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

The contributed surplus of the Company brought
forward represents the amount transferred from the
share premium due to the share premium reduction
effective on 23 November 2015 and various capital
reduction subsequently. Under the Bermuda
Companies Act, the contributed surplus is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot make a
distribution out of the contributed surplus if: (i) it is, or
would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities
as they become due; or (i) the realisable value of its
assets would thereby be less than its liabilities.

Capital contribution reserve represents Mr. Mung, a
director and substantial shareholder of the Company,
had compensated the Company from suffering loss of
deposits paid for investments in prior years, and fulfilled
his responsibility as a personal guarantee and settled all
outstanding balance of deposits paid for investments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 3

26. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 26.
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following significant transactions and
balances with related parties:

(i) Material transactions with related parties:

e MR

1 December 2022 HE T - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

EXBEALRS

B%ECEZ? REMBRREMEIBEZR
KAEERIN » NEREEEANTFIMIAT
EK&%&%%=

() HBEEALZEARXRS:

2022 2021
—E-= —E—%F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FET FHETT
Commission and other handling B —EEE (@)
charge paid/payable to a related NRlZAE REAM
company FEE = 29
Interest expenses on lease liabilites ZAf,/ FEBERA R 2 (@)
paid/payable to related companies S & & F| B = 60
Expense relating to short-term F'EJL’D\ AEHEER (@)
leases to related companies B2 2,548 554

Note: (a)  The directors of the Company, Mr. Mung and Mr.
Mung Bun Man, Alan, have beneficial interests in
the related companies up to 20 May 2021. Mr.
Mung and Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, are also the
directors of GMHL as at and for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

In October 2022, the Group entered into a one-year
lease in respect of office from related companies.
The amount of rent payable by the Group
under the lease is approximately HK$194,000
(2021: HK$217,000) per month.

it (@ ARRMEERELRERX
EERBERAREL TSR
% HZ T_*iﬁﬂ—
+a¢ B —FR=
f*—¢+ A=+—A8
REZZMALEE 5%
ERERNEEMABBEIRA
BYEE -
W_E::$+H KEBFLEEEZE
NAEMRAREYEI L —FHEY -
BEAOASEEMNESNAEETA
194,000 L (ZFE = —% : 217,000
HIT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE =T =-=_F+=—A=+—HIFE

26. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 26. EXBAEALTRZ (E)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(i) Balances with related parties: (i) EEEEEALTZEER:
2022 2021
—E-= T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Rental deposit paid to related BENEEQARZEE
companies by 685 756
(iii) Compensation of key management (i) TEEBABZHMHEE
personnel remuneration
Compensation for key management personnel, FEEBRABZHEREENAR
including amount paid to the Company’s directors, AESE - FETHRABERETES
chief executive and certain of the highest paid HES (WERA MBS mRERME11FT
employees, as disclosed in note 11 to the HERE)ZEBAT -

consolidated financial statements, is as follows:

2022 2021
—E=-= T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Salaries, allowances and other e EEREMEY
benefit in kind =Rl 8,693 8,711
Discretionary bonus BIFTEAL 76 76
Retirement benefit scheme RIRBFFTEI 45K
contributions 50 54
8,819 8,841
The remuneration of directors, chief executive officer B THEBERNETFEZEEBEABZ
and key management personnel is determined by e BmFMEEeREBEBAARR
the remuneration committee having regard to the NTiSBEEE -

performance of individuals and market trends.
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group contributes to a defined contribution the MPF
Scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance for all employees in Hong Kong. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
relevant income and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed in the
MPF Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contribution
to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss for
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the plans are set out in
notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there is no
forfeited contributions included in retirement benefits
schemes contributions (2021: nil).

27. RIKERIETE

AEBRFRBERBES AP SHAAE
BAERERAEHRFBESF BIHR - 1R
EaEeEIRA - HFRTIREB AR
AZFBEES LR YRAT MR
BEAME - RESHEEERLAEEE
ENFH TH—EBLEREESFER - K
SERBRES T EFLEEHRRR - H3R
28 EETREE - RiEBESHE &
TRERERBAREBRBIAZE%M
mBEEA MR MEAEBKRALRE
30,0008 7T ° 8iE & 7t SIHKANES R -

A KRB AR ZFFBRAFTIEE L X[
ZEFRTEIF 2 MM B R Z X
BB BIE N A M B R M 10511 -

BE_T__Ft+_A=1t—HILFE -
RREFET B0 P I EB IEE R R 3K
(ZZ=Z—F : )
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e M BEHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;

E-FT

FH-A=T—HALFE

28. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing

28.

MEXBEE2EEZHER

TRALAEEMEXBELCABZE
B BRASKIFRSED BMEXKE
EZREREERSREDHRICGASRE

activities are those for which cash flows were, or future BRAEBGEHeRERIERBMESRE
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated BEAZREeREZAE -
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
Other
financial
Margin liability-
Bond loan from non-
interest securities Leases convertible
payable broker liabilities bond Total
Htt
EHFLL BKasE-
EREHFE FRENM HERE TUEARSH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TER FEL FAT TET
As at 1 January 2021 W-E-—%—F—A 143 28,157 2,874 9,073 4,147
Financing cash flows BERERE (200) (3,582) (2,934) = (6,716)
Non-cash changes: FREEE
Interest expenses ERANSRx (Hits)
recognised (note 8) 200 701 60 27 988
As at 31 December 2021  R=ZT=—
and as at 1 January +ZA=+-Bk
2022 RZE-—F—H—H 143 25,276 - 10,000 35,419
Financing cash flows BERTRE (200) (25,324) = = (25,524)
Non-cash changes: FReEE
Interest expenses ERRMERZ (#:28)
recognised (note 8) 200 563 - - 763
As at 31 December 2022 A-ZE=-—f
+=B=1-H 143 515 = 10,000 10,658
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks
through its use of financial instruments in its ordinary
course of operations and in its investment activities.
Financial risks include market risk (including interest rate
risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk, other price risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
focuses on unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried
out by key management under the policies approved
by the board of directors. The Group does not have
written risk management policies. However, the board
of directors meet regularly and co-operate closely with
key management to identify and evaluate risks and to
formulate strategies to manage financial risks. The Group
has not used any derivatives or other instruments for
hedging purposes and has not held or issued derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes. The most
significant risks to which the Group is exposed to are
described below.

(a) Categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
financial instruments mainly consisted of other
receivables, deposit paid, financial assets at
FVTPL, cash and cash equivalents, accruals and
other payables and other financial liability — non-
convertible bond.

BEEREER D FENE

AEBERNEAREERSRET METHER
BB BN A B 75 T A M e S R %A
- MERREEMSRER(EEMNEE
@ MANERR)  EERR - HAERE
BMRBESER  AEREZERBERE
HIEEemmB s MAERME  XERE
UAEBMBRAZEETNZERER
K- -EREEHTIEEEABREESS
BB BEET - ARBEYEEERARE
BHR AN EFETHEIBEEA
EAFERMERETIAE - UBHl Rk
AT A LR A K% Il 7T 8 TR B 7S L B o R
AEEYEERTAITETARKEMTA
RSP RS - R ERFEHBETITER
TRAEERRZ AKREMEH I REIR
JER\B I 3R A

(a) MBEERMBAGEZEE

R|EYR  AEBZHHITAE
EZRFHMERENR ENE:
BEBRRARFEINRZHHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities (Continued)

The carrying amounts presented in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position relate
to the following categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities:

29.

BEEREER AN VENEGE)

(a) MBREERMBAGEZEEE)

RAEBZEEMBERRAREN 2
REEENTMBEERYBAE
HBRIER

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—1F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial assets BgEE
Amortised cost BESHAAR
Other receivables b B AR 5K 38 232
Deposits paid [RENE & 701 772
Cash and cash equivalents He MRS FEER 2,120 2,371
FVTPL FEiRBERAAFESER
Financial assets at FVTPL FREEEUAQAFE
SRR I EE 98,679 238,818
101,538 242,193
Financial liabilities BKAaE
Amortised cost B SH R AN
Accruals and other payables JE 51 AR R % B B A BR
= 2,134 25,905
Other financial liability Hin & &
- non-convertible bond - NAJERE A 10,000 10,000
12,134 35,905
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT BEEREERAFREFEGE)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(b) Market risk (b) WEER

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances and
variable-rate margin loan from securities broker.
The Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on
the margin loan from securities broker. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing
the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook.
The Group has not used any financial instrument to
hedge potential fluctuations in interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or
decrease in variable-rate margin loan from securities
broker is used. Bank balances are excluded from
sensitivity analysis as the management considers
that the exposure of cash flow interest rate
risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is
insignificant.

FEmEB

MEmEETDEFBIAZ A FERK
ReRnEBEGRMBSMEEFHMELR
KE 2 R BRE

AEBAXBETRRITERIT
BREFRRARERZBAEREN
KRy - AEEZRERENKME
REBEFRBFRLEFRERLZ
MR B o AN EFEBRERNEK
FRATRFFGEMN RSB TES
LEBERZEEEEMNERRER - A&
36 R A PR AR B 75 T B ¥ &
ESE

HRE D

TXZHRERED T IRBRE R
IS zHERBREE - BB
THRBRHwEHREREE 2B
TERBEFENDREEMRE
RAFEREFKLARER M X
EFRTRE0MEER - ANEIEE
RRFERBITERELNRERE
MERBRITEKR - FHLHERED
AT AT ASRITABER ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)
(b) Market risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, if interest rates of margin
loan from securities broker had been 50 basis point
higher/lower (2021: 50 basis point), with all other
variables remain constant, the post-tax loss for the
year ended 31 December 2022 would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$3,000 (2021:
HK$106,000).

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk
in respect of HK$ against the US$ as long as this
currency is pegged.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currency. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

The change in exchange rate against US$ has not
been considered in the following sensitivity analysis
as HK$ is pegged to US$. In the opinion of the
directors, the Group does not expect any significant
movements between the exchange rate of HK$
against US$.

Walnut Capital Limited | Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT BEEREER AV ETEGE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(b) Market risk (Continued) (b) TIZEER(E)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in equity and debt securities measured
at FVTPL. For equity and debt securities measured
at FVTPL quoted in relevant stock exchange, the
directors manage this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different risks. In
addition, the Group also invested in certain equity
securities listed in relevant stock exchange without
quoted market price, unlisted equity and debt
securities for investees operating in different industry
sectors and unlisted investment funds which had
been classified as financial assets at FVTPL. The
Group has appointed a special team to monitor
the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

To manage its market price risk arising from these
investments, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance
with the limits set by the board of directors.

The policies to manage other price risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.

At B mE b

AEBEREREBEDRKRARTFE
AEZBARBEBRESZRERR
BERE - SARHBEESZX S
BEBBREURFEFEZRAE
REBEFME  EFBBAERA
TRARRNKEESEEZAR -
o REE TR ERE THEERE
BHRRGH LT 2 RAE S (ETHS
WE) KRR RTTERBEERBH
WIRE QBRI EMRAREBE
HFRIFLTREES(RFBFLE
TEDBREBEBREAQFED
ENURBEE)  AKEERETER
BRERERER  UHRABEFTE
R E B E R

REBRERERESL M ER
B ARESHEBAES - HM
HE A RREE TR
17 -

AEEABEFEAR—ERTE

BEHMEBRRRZBER - YR/Z
EHRAEK -
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Market risk (Continued)

Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
end of the reporting period. Sensitivity analyses
for certain equity securities listed in relevant stock
exchange without quoted market price, unlisted
equity and debt securities and unlisted investment
funds with fair value measurement categorised
within level 3 were disclosed in note 29(e) to the
consolidated financial statements. For sensitivity
analysis of equity and debt securities with fair
value measurement categorised within level 1, the
sensitivity rate is 35% in 2022 (2021: 35%) as a
result of the volatile financial market.

If the prices of the respective equity and derivative
instruments had been 35% (2021: 35%) higher/
lower, the post-tax loss for the year ended
31 December 2022 would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$20,426,000 (2021:
HK$56,490,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of listed equity and debt securities classified
as financial assets at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 E—ZE - —F+_A=+—HIFE

BHEREER A FETEGE)

(b) % Eb (&)

At E# 2 (F)

BREESMBBERREHREZTH
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HR G LT 2 RAFEH (B iS®R
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HFIRREINME BREET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—T - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT MEERMEERAFEFEE)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)
(c) EE @R E L

(c) Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2022, the Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
other receivables, deposits paid and bank balances.
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The directors considered the credit risk of the
Group’s other receivables and deposit paid are
relatively low as they have a low risk of default and
the counterparty has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.

The Group deposited its bank balances with
approved and reputable banks. Bankruptcy or
insolvency of the banks may cause the Group’s right
with respect to bank balances held to be delayed or
limited. Management of the Company monitors the
credit rating of these banks on an ongoing basis,
and considers that the Group’s exposure to credit
risk as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021 were minimal.

The Group does not have any other significant
concentrations of credit risk. The exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

RZEZZF+HA=+—H K
S B E A AR @A g
FIﬁMﬁ%EE%%ﬁFH%Z
EERR AEBEZEFERRBREE
XaﬁmEW$ﬂ EffiEe kiR

i AEBERRXSIEFRER
ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁlm%%%ﬁ%
ZEANEERR - DAREBHEEVE
RRRTYSEERRAUBEEZ
AREME °

EERR AKBEEMBEEERERK
ENfZe 2 EFERARBHEE R
AAZERBAZENRRRE B
RHBEFAEBRRNENROIHRETH

BHRERERE-

AEBEGERITERTHRNERA
REZBRIFZRIT - ZFRITH
EXENEEIXSERNASER
FRFFIRITAE B8R 2 BE I B o X )
@ﬂ ARAREREGREBEERZ

RITZEETR  URAREEE
%:7__¢+ A=+—8k
2 —F+ZA=+—HAEX
ZEERREM

AEEYBEMEMEREFEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT BEEREER AV ETEGE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk (d) REBELEE
Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not mBECRER DEAEBRERTT
be able to meet its obligations associated with its NRZNReHEMHBEEERT NG
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash B naERBERZREBA
or another financial asset. The Group is exposed to o AEBEBERITRERLEM
liquidity risk in respect of settlement of accruals and ERER HEGEREMMKE
other payables, lease liabilities and other financial & - TAERESURERERE
liability - non-convertible bond and also in respect EERETEAZTBESRAR - A&
of its cash flow management. The Group’s objective ZEEERBRBEENREAFEE
is to maintain an appropriate level of liquid assets SHFREEKE  UnEHEH
and committed lines of funding to meet its liquidity LERERBESFRK -
requirements in the short and long term.
The liquidity policies have been followed by the AEBBEBEFENR—EETR
Group since prior years and are considered to have BESHR  URAEZZEHREE
been effective in managing liquidity risks. BRBESRRAIEITZIBR
Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual INTOMBAREEZETETEE
maturities for its non-derivative financial liabilities, BRI EHNEEER  ERES
which are based on contractual undiscounted ARMRRERERAEEBEZN
cash flows and the earliest date the Group can be REZ&FAE
required to pay:
Weighted
average Total
effective Within contractual
interest  one year or Within More than  undiscounted Carrying
ratt ondemand  2-5years 5years cash flow amount
NETH —-5Rg, ARRER
- Sk EER Z—ZRER BBEE REREBHE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZEZZE
As at 31 December 2022 t-B=1-H TEn TEn AR Tén TEn
Non-derivative financial FiTEHBEE
liabilities:
Margin loan from securiies broker ~ EHELHE
ER 6.63 515 = . 515 515
Other accruals and other payables  E-ftEztER 3T
EfERER = 1,619 = = 1,619 1,619
Other financial iabilty RftErBAR
= non-convertiole bond - Ao EhES 2.00 10,067 = = 10,067 10,000
12,201 - - 12,201 12,134
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #; F+ZA=1+—RHLEFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Ee

29. IBERBEERAFEHEE)

d) RBEERERGE)

Weighted
average Total
effective Within contractual
interest one year or Within More than  undiscounted Carrying
rate on demand 2-5 years 5 years cash flow amount
ImEFH e LN
BRI EEX ZZERFA BALE RENEHE KEfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZZ-F
As at 31 December 2021 t-A=1-H FAT Thx ThL TAL ThAL
Non-derivative financial labilties: FTEHBER:
Margin loan from securities broker ~ EHELHE
& 2.38 25,216 - - 25,016 25,076
Other accruals and other payables  EftEEZ R
HibEMR! - 944 - - 944 944
Other financial liabilty ik ac
- non-convertible bond - T BRES 2.00 10,067 = = 10,067 10,000
36,287 - - 36,287 36,220

The Group considers expected cash flows from
financial assets in assessing and managing liquidity
risk, in particular, its cash resources and other liquid
assets that readily generate cash. The Group’s
existing cash resources and other liquid assets
significantly exceed the cash outflow requirements.

AEBERFEMNERRDE SRR
HEEMNBEEZRARSRE
FRIRRAEBEREBIELER T L
HiRBHEE - AEBZRERE
BRMEMRBHEERRBLRS

M EYARTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets that are

measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are
measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. For
instruments with significant unobservable inputs
under level 3, the Group engages independent
qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The
management works closely with the qualified
external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The
management reports the findings to the directors to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value.

The following table gives information about how the
fair values of these financial assets are determined
(in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs
used).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 20. MBEKREERAFEFEGE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(e) Fair value of financial instruments (e) MBI RAZRAFEGE)
(Continued)
R-E-ZF Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
As at 31 December2022 +=A=+—H E—ER EZER EZER Fob

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR TR TR

Fair value on arecurring BREFEEHEY
basis AYE

Financial assets at FVTPL BRBREARNFE
Sk B E

~ listed derivative financial - FHTARBIA
instruments 686 - - 686
- listed equity securities - F RS 69,237 = = 69,237

- unlisted equity and debt - FELTRARER
securities Fega = = 25,246 25,246
- unlisted investment funds ~ — 3F FTIREES - 3,510 - 3,510
69,923 3,510 25,246 98,679
R-ZZT-—4%F Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
As at 31 December 2021 +-B=1+—H~H F—ER FER E=ER fst

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TRT TET

Fair value on a recurring basis Z&EEEHFE Y

AT

Financial assets at FVTPL FARBEREARTE
B8R 2 IS B E

~ listed derivative financial - FITEMEIA

instruments 648 - - 648
- listed equity securities - ERAES 192,644 = = 192,644
- unlisted equity and debt - FELTRARER

securities E5 - - 37,005 37,005
- unlisted investment funds ~ — JEEMIRERS = = 8,521 8,521

193,292 - 45,526 238,818
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value of financial instruments

(Continued)

The majority of listed equity and debt securities
are denominated in HK$ and US$. Fair values
have been determined by reference to their quoted
market closing prices at the end of the reporting
period and have been translated using the spot
foreign currency rates at the end of the reporting
period where appropriate.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, there were no transfers between level 1 and
level 2, or transfers into or out of level 3 except for
unlisted investment funds which described below.

As at 31 December 2022, unlisted investment funds
were changed from fair value hierarchy from level
3 to level 2 because of the new market information
becomes available for those investments. The fair
value of unlisted investment funds of approximately
HK$3,510,000 categorised into Level 3 fair value
hierarchy as at 31 December 2021 was changed to
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December
2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 E—ZE - —F+_A=+—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT BEEREER AV ETEGE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

MBIAZRAFEGE
EHE=RAFEFBEZEHN

(e) Fair value of financial instruments (e)

Information about level 3 fair value measurements

Valuation Significant unobservable Relation of significant unobservable

techniques input inputs to fair value
EATUERBARE

fEER A EXFTBRRRARE BNVEZHE

As at 31 December 2022
R-B--%+=-A=+-H
Unlisted equity and

Market approach and equity P/S multiples ranging from 2.1 to  The P/S multiples is positively correlated to

debt securities allocation model 9.0 the fair value measurement of the
FEMRAREBRES TEE R e 7 B R MREEHNT2.129.0 unlisted equity and debt securities

MEEEHEE FTRAREREF 2
ATEFEZFRE

The discount rate is negatively correlated
to the fair value measurement of the
unlisted equity securities

AREEF FTRAZE S D TE
STEEEIEH

The expected volatility is positively
correlated to the fair value measurement
of the unlisted equity securities

EERB RS FTRAE R DT E
FTEZIEIRE

Marketability of discount rate
of 20.6%
5 e AR £ 20.6%

Expected volatility of 41.4% to
78.6%
TEHRIE41.4%Z78.6%

Market approach and binomial
tree model
T R IR ER

Enterprise value to sales
multiples of 3.3
PREBLHERHSS

The enterprise value to sales multiples
are positively correlated to the fair
value measurement of the unlisted debt
securities

rEEELHERREELHERES
AV EFFEZERE

The expected volatility is positively
correlated measurement of the unlisted
debt securities

BHRERE L MEBER L ATE
STEEFHE

The discount rate is negatively correlated
to the fair value measurement of the
unlisted debt securities

BRREE FMERES L ATE
STEZEMEB

Expected volatility of 44.6%
TEHK1E44.6%

Marketability of discount rate
of 20.6%
s 2 B3R % 20.6%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29. IKEBREERAFEITEGE)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(e) Fair value of financial instruments (e) MBTAZAFEGA
(Continued)
Information about level 3 fair value measurements EHFE=RAFETEZER(E)
(Continued)
Valuation Significant unobservable Relation of significant unobservable
techniques input inputs to fair value
EXATAEERALE
HER M EATARZRAEE HATEZBR
Net asset value Net asset value The net asset value is positively correlated
BEFE BEFE to the fair value measurement of the

unlisted equity securities

BEEFERFLPRARSCATE

e
As at 31 December 2021
RZZ_—%+-A=+-H
Unlisted equity and Market approach and equity P/S multiples ranging from 2.5 The P/S multiples is positively correlated to
debt securities allocation model 106.3 the fair value measurement of the
kEMRAREBES 5% R e 7 B R MEXEHNT2.5%6.3 unlisted equity securities
MEXEHEE FHRAEF A TE
SEZIFEH
Marketability of discount rate of ~ The discount rate is negatively correlated
20.6% to the fair value measurement of the
et AR %£20.6% unlisted equity securities
AREEE FTRAZE S DT E 2
E3=piil
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 20. MIBEMEER N FEFEGE)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(e) Fair value of financial instruments (e) MBI RAZAFEGE)
(Continued)
Information about level 3 fair value measurements BHEE=RAFHET;EZEH(E)
(Continued)
Valuation Significant unobservable Relation of significant unobservable
techniques input inputs to fair value
EXTUBEHAHE
HER M EATARZRAEE HATEZBE
Expected volatility of 54.0% to  The expected volatility is
68.9% positively correlated to the
B H K 1854.0%%£68.9% fair value measurement of the
unlisted equity securities
EHRBEE LTRAES A TEE
STEEEHE
Unlisted investment funds Net asset value Net asset value The net asset value is positively
FEMBEES BEFE BEFE correlated to the fair value
measurement of the unlisted
investment funds
BEFERELTREESZATE
SEZEHAE
Information about the valuation techniques used in EHETHELTRAREBES KR
determining the fair value of the unlisted equity and FEMEREES 2 AFEMFERAZ
debt securities and unlisted investment funds are fERM 2 ER TR £ XK -

disclosed above.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfer into and AEBZBRABERE EEHEE
out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the ZEHNEREEHH 2 AFEE
events or change in circumstances that caused the BzBALEL o

transfer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29. BiIEEAREER ATV EFEGE)

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value of financial instruments (e) MBTAZAFEGA
(Continued)
Information about level 3 fair value measurements BHEE=ZRINFETEZEF(E)
(Continued)
The following table presents the changes in fair TREWDBRAE=-FAFEER
value of financial assets which are classified as level 2HEEE 2 N E(EE

3 fair value hierarchy:

HK$’000
FHETT
As at 1 January 2021 R-ZZ=Z—F—A—H 53,758
Investment in unlisted equity and debt FLETMRAREBREFKRE
securities 11,218
Disposal of unlisted equity securities & I E TR B 5 (3,172
Loss arising in change in fair value of FiRBEEERARFESERZ 5
financial assets at FVTPL, net BEAFESHELE L HEFE (16,278)
As at 31 December 2021 and as at 1 January R - -—F+_-_A=+—HBX
2022 W_ZE-_—_%—H—H 45,526
Investment in unlisted equity and FELTRARBEBESFKE
debt securities 8,605
Transfer to level 2 fair value measurement EEF_ERATETE (3,510)
Loss arising in change in fair value of financial % i& 18 2 Bk LA A F(E S BR 2 81 75
assets at FVTPL, net BEATERIEAZEEFE (25,375)
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-_—_F+=-HA=+-—H 25,246
Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets and KEFWHFIGEEEELNFHITE
financial liabilities that are not measured at fair CHBEERMBEEEZ N FE
value on a recurring basis
The carrying amounts of financial assets and N-ZEZ—FER_FTE=-—F+=-8
financial liabilities carried at amortised cost were =+—H  REBEKAY R ZBE
not materially different from their fair value as at 31 BELKaGEZEREHERE

December 2022 and 2021. NFETEERER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

30. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure
and shareholder returns, taking into consideration the
future capital requirements of the Group, prevailing and
projected capital expenditures and projected strategic
investment opportunities. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue of new
shares or redemption of existing shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts
(which includes margin loan from securities broker and
other financial liability — non-convertible bond) and total
equity.

30. EXERE

AEBERAERZ AERERASEES
BREINFBEREZE  URRBERRER
FEAE O

AEEBERTHENEEE LSRR
o REE(CERERRREER -
RABZEIAEE s AREERE B
RIEH AR Y R ER AR E o &
EE Y ERERALERETE -

RERLFHBERRE  AEEAERE
XN TFERRZBEEE MRREDE
R BITHBROIBEORABRMDIEESR
ENFERIE -

REBHBAEETINBEINZ ERBRE ©

AEEZEARBEREBFR(HEHBRER
FREFREFNEMMBAE - THE
BiEs) M AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE =T =-=_F+=—A=+—HIFE

30. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 30. ¥AEE ()

The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting period are RBERRCEEBBLENAT -
as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Total debts (note) &R R (f177) 10,515 35,276
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B HekReEEIER (2,120) (2,371)
Net debts BRI FEE 8,395 32,905
Total equity EmAATE 97,177 214,213
Net debt to equity ratio B PR s = 8.6% 15.4%
Total debt to equity ratio BB RR S R 10.8% 16.5%
Note: Total debts comprises margin loan from securities broker and HeF - ERAERRERFELETREERKEMEY
other financial liability — non-convertible bond. HEE - TAERES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

31. INVESTMENT 31. RE
Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Chapter 21.12 BIELETRUE21A2BFTAZRE - K
of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its list of all SENFWER_T_—_FR T —F
investments with a value greater than 5% of the Group’s T _A=t—HFAEBEBEALKEEE
gross assets and at least 10 largest investments as at 31 BESNIREUARZDVIOERAKEZ
December 2022 and 2021 respectively as follows: PR
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-ZZH+ZHA=+—8H
Market value/
Percentage Net assets fair value
of equity  attributable as at 31
interest to the Cost of December Dividend
held Company investment 2022 received
R-B--%
FERE  AQFER +=ZA=1+-H
BEE BERE BRERA 2HE/AVE EBRE
Name of investments Notes % HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
REAR Mzt TER TER TEx TEx
Listed equity securities in ERLTRAES
Hong Kong
Alibaba Group Holding Limited MERBEEZERERAR (a) below 0.01 4,804 19,370 7,073 -
{&#0.01
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited (o) 291 16,056 44,597 42,674 -
hEREREERAR
Frontier Services Group Limited Frontier Services Group Limited (© 0.41 1,943 9,597 3,196 -
FERBEERBRAR
Huayi Tencent Entertainment EREMRLERAR d 0.20 690 1,177 3,883 -
Company Limited
Kingston Financial Group Limited SHESREEERAA ©) 0.07 15,186 36,608 2,850 -
Tencent Holdings Limited EAERERAR ) below 0.01 877 4917 3,173 54
15140.01
Unlisted equity and debt EBUMZELTRAR
securities outside Hong Kong EHES
Oddup Inc.~ Preferred shares Oddup Inc.- B 55 ©) N/A N/A 11,700 11,810 =
TEA TEA
Oddup Inc. - SAFET] Oddup Inc. - SAFET] 9 N/A N/A 2,340 3,493 -
TER TEA
Infinity Technology (Cayman) Infinity Technology (Cayman) () N/A N/A 3,900 2,990 -
Limited — Preferred shares Limited - % 5% TEA TEA
Pantheon Lab Limited BEREERAR 0] N/A N/A 3,925 3,307 =
- Convertible promissory notes - EE LR TEA TEA
148,131 84,449
* (EREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

31. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

31. RE#&)

As at 31 December 2021 RZZE-_—F+=-A=+—H
Market value/
Percentage Net assets fair value
of equity attributable as at 31
interest tothe Cost of December Dividend
held Company investment 2021 received
R-B-—%
FalA  RDTEE _ +=A=t+-R
BHASN BEE RERA e/ RTE EHRE
Name of investments % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REAR FAT T FET FET
Listed equity securities in EBLTRAES
Hong Kong
Alibaba Group Holding Limited MEEEREERERAR below 0.01 14,411 53,612 27,228 =
1£10.01
Ausnutria Dairy Corporation Ltd. REAZROERAR 0.04 2,949 8,171 7,088 203
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited 2.91 17,934 44,597 78,326 -
R EBEERAR
Frontier Services Group Limited Frontier Services Group Limited 0.41 2,086 9,597 6,004 -
FERBEEERD R
Huayi Tencent Entertainment EHERREERAR 0.29 2,206 16,068 8,278 =
Company Limited
Logan Group Company Limited EXEBERAR 0.02 14,628 11,129 5,698 1,061
Tencent Holdings Limited BERERBR AR below 0.01 3,816 17,597 15,531 =
{E30.01
Times China Holdings Limited BRABEERERAE 0.07 38,844 16,541 5,538 1,128
Unlisted equity securities outside &# L2 F L RAZ %
Hong Kong
Oddup Inc. Oddup Inc.
- Preferred shares -BER N/A N/A 11,700 21,692 -
TiEh Encli
Unlisted investment funds EBUMZELHREES
outside Hong Kong
Click Ventures Segregated Click Ventures Segregated
Portfolio Company Portfolio Company
= Fund Series 3T SP = Fund Series 3T SP N/A N/A 7,800 5,600 -
TiEh TiEh
196,812 180,983
* EHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EZE =T - =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

31. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

Alibaba Group Holding Limited was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 09988) and on the New York Stock
Exchange (the “NYSE”) (symbol: BABA). Alibaba Group
Holding Limited is principally engaged in core commerce,
cloud computing, digital media and entertainment and
innovation initiatives and others.

For the nine months ended 31 December 2022, the unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the company
was approximately RMB48,993 million and its unaudited
consolidated net assets was approximately RMB1,100,129
million.

Brockman Mining Limited was incorporated in Bermuda and
its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
00159). Brockman Mining Limited is principally engaged in
the acquisition, exploration and development of iron ore in
Australia.

For the six months ended 31 December 2022, the unaudited
consolidated loss attributable to the equity holders of
the company was approximately HK$28,637,000 and its
unaudited consolidated net assets was approximately
HK$551,688,000

Frontier Services Group Limited was incorporated in the
Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 00500). Frontier Services Group Limited is
principally engaged in the provision of aviation, logistics,
security, insurance and infrastructure related services and the
provision of online financial market information.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to the equity holders of the
company was approximately HK$28,966,000 and its audited
consolidated net assets was approximately HK$470,575,000.

Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00419). Huayi Tencent
Entertainment Company Limited is principally engaged in
(i) entertainment and media business; and (ii) provision of
healthcare and wellness services.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to the equity holders of the
company was approximately HK$269,980,000 and its audited
consolidated net assets was approximately HK$349,925,000.

31. R&E(H)

*

Hiat

(@)

Ea5

MEREEEERERAFANHSESTE
AR SZ R L B4 O BgE 22 P b 7 (AR AR 5EE
09988) KN KIE X S P (A3 Fr ) £
(B th FR5% - BABA) - fl EEE S EIERE
BAREIEREROEE  ZFrE T
B MIRB AR BIF RS -

BE-_Z2-_—_F#+-_A=+—H1LhM@E
B %AREB ABGHREEXESET
B ARS8 003E BT K EREEZILEE
BEFEANARE1100,1296 87T °

Brockman Mining Limited# 5k 52 BT 2 A IR
AR B FE T A L R B B R B 2 BT
B AER © 00159) ° Brockman Mining
Limitedm e BB X AR N FEZRNEKX
PR B - SBHERAEERERL -

BE-_E-_—_F+-_A=+—H1EKHE
B ZAREERFEABRMREEZES
E518 5 4928,637,0008 7L K L R EBEZE
B EFE A#)551,688,000/8 T ©

Frontier Services Group Limited?t £ iR &
EERAR R BEREEIMA L RERD®
B 22 B £ (A% 5 X 5% - 00500) ° Frontier
Services Group Limited4t 2 fRIEEB AR A
AFEEREME PR RE - RIERE
FEFERARRTS AR A LB TS AR -

BE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—RHIFE -
ZAREERAEARGEEREAERA
#728,966,000/%8 7T K &R iZir & EEFE
5 49470,575,000/ 7T °

EEBEMREERANRHESHE XM
RS R E B R B R T £ (B SR -
00419) ° ZEHBMREEGR AR EEZRE()
IREE R IHBE RS - A R(VRMHIER REER
}%o

BE-_ET-_—_F+-_B=1+—HIFE -
RATIESBEABRGEERREBIEA
#7269,980,000% 7T k & BRIz A B EF
{8 5 #9349,925,0007 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ =T ==—F+=—A=+—HIFE

31. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

C

Kingston Financial Group Limited was incorporated in
Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 01031). Kingston Financial Group Limited is
principally engaged in securities brokerage, underwriting
and placements, margin and initial public offering financing,
other financial services, hotel operations, food and beverage,
gaming and securities investment. Its shares were privatised
and delisted in the Stock Exchange on 27 February 2023.

For the six months ended 30 September 2022, the unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to owners of the company was
approximately HK$1,823,000 and its unaudited consolidated
net assets was approximately HK$20,674,446,000.

Tencent Holdings Limited was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 00700). Tencent Holdings Limited is principally engaged
in the provision of VAS, Online Advertising services and
FinTech and Business Services.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the equity holders of
the company was approximately RMB188,709 million and
its audited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB782,860 million.

Oddup Inc. was incorporated in the United States of America
and is principally engaged in operating a research platform
that provides analytical information on startups, their trends,
and both current and expected future valuations.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the unaudited loss
attributable to the owners of the company was approximately
US$2,051,405 and its unaudited net assets was approximately
US$6,943,000.
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31. REA)
Wit < (4)

©)

SHELEREBERARNBREZM
BRSL R HORR 5 BB X P T (AR D RS -
01031) - &L cmEBMERAAEE
HEFHFLEL  DEMRE - RES KB
RAFBERE - HtbemRis - BIEE
B -RmAk#H  BEREHFRE - HR
HERBLEIR T -_=ZF-_A_-++H
B FTERRE ©

BE-_ZTZ-—"FAA=+HILAMEA %
ARABEEANEBEARACEREREREN BN
1,823,000 Tt R E R K BIZGEEEFE
B #120,674,446,000 7T, ©

BIERAR AR NS S MR
H QA 7Bk 32 A £ (B AR5 00700) -
BARERAERAA T ERERMHMNER
B O BLEERBLEBMREBEER
% o

BE-_ZE-_—_F+_A=1+—BIFE -
RARERREAEARGEEREE 5T A
WARI188, 7008 ETL R ELEZGAE
EFEANARET82,860HE T °

Oddup Inc. AEBFMAY - EBHEFE
FTREE T REEBEDNEIRR - %
ERNRBEUARE T RFERARGEEND
MEE -

BE-_T-_—_F+-_B=1+—RHIEE -
ZARBEEARBEREEZREBE AN
2,051,405 E L R ERERIZEEFERY
6,943,000 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—T - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(h) Infinity Technology (Cayman) Limited was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands. Infinity Technology (Cayman) Limited is
principally engaged in providing the point of sales and online
ordering platform service.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the unaudited
consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the company
was approximately HK$5,009,000 and its unaudited
consolidated net assets was approximately HK$28,024,000.

(i) Pantheon Lab Limited was incorporated in Hong Kong and
is principally engaged in artificial intelligence and software
research and development.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the unaudited loss
attributable to owner of the company was approximately
HK$875,000 and its unaudited net liabilities was approximately
HK$2,876,000.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The Group had no material events for disclosure
subsequent to 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this annual report.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to be
consistent with the current year presentation.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30
March 2023.

31. R&E(H)

32.

33.

34.

Hiat

(h)

(&)

Infinity Technology (Cayman) Limited#\fl €
Bt S EMAAL © Infinity Technology (Cayman)
Limited E 2R FRMEIHE B MR LRTET
BRTE -

BE_T-_—_F+-A=+—HLFE
QAT%ﬁAﬁﬁimﬁﬁ%Eﬁm
5,009,000 T R E REBIZEEGEEFE
54928,024,000/ 7T °

BEMRBERARNEBIMAL
feEAT BRI MR -

3

BHE-_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HLEFE "
ZARBEAEABEREEZEBEAY
875,000 TR EALRZEBBEFEAY
2,876,000/ 7T °

BEPREE

B-ZE-_ 1+ -A=1T—BEREEXR
FHEH  AEBYEEAFTRATR

Eg °
LB F

ETHUBEFEETNLE  NEAFEZ
EVFNRFT -
RS B Rk

REMBRRREFEN _ZT_=F=H
=t BRERIRETE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M HE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;

E_T-_—_F+_A=+—HUIFE

For the year ended 31 December

BET-A=t-HLEFE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—E-\E& —Z-nE -ZT-FTE -T--H5 ZB-ZE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
THL THL FAL THL THT
Results £
Revenue Y35 3,461 6,028 6,037 6,538 757
Loss before income tax BRETSEEAIE 1R (141,223) (91,295) (18,792) (64,030)  (117,036)
Income tax expense FBRES - - - - -
Loss for the year FEBE (141,223) (91,295) (18,792) (64,030)  (117,036)
At 31 December
R+=A=1+-8
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—T-\E ZZ-NE —ZT-FTE -T--H5 ZBZE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
AL THL TAL THL THT
Total assets BEE 419,730 339,538 319,878 250,118 109,311
Total liabilities ffEmE (31,408)  (42507) (41,635 (35005  (12,134)
Net assets BEFE 388,325 297,031 278,243 214,213 97,177
Total equity EneE 388,325 207,031 278243 214213 97,177
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